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Disasters Emergency Committee – Year to 31 March 2024

Their Majesties, the King and Queen, helped us mark 
the occasion with a reception at Buckingham Palace that 
brought together DEC colleagues, member charities and local 
partners, members of our Rapid Response Network, high-
profile supporters, community fundraisers, broadcast partners 
and members of the diaspora community representing 
countries the DEC has supported over the years. The event 
was a reflection of the importance of partnership in our work, 
and an opportunity to thank all those who continue to place 
their trust in us.

Earlier in the year, the Chair of the Charity Commission, 
Orlando Fraser, visited Romania and saw how funds donated 
to the DEC Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal are being used 
to support people affected by the conflict. He told us that 
the work of DEC members and their partners in Romania 
is making a real difference and is something of which our 
country can be proud.

During this financial year no appeals were launched, but work 
continued on our four recent responses: the Afghanistan Crisis 
Appeal, the Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal, the Pakistan Floods 
Appeal and the Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal. To date, we 
have raised an incredible £437 million for Ukraine, supporting 
8.2 million conflict-affected people so far, and £162 million  
for Turkey-Syria, reaching 2.2 million people affected by the 
earthquakes. Both appeals remained open for donations 
throughout this financial year.

We closely monitored a number of crises this year, including 
the catastrophic situation in Gaza where humanitarian access 
remained an ongoing challenge. This prevented the launch of 
a national DEC appeal, although many DEC member charities 
continued to provide lifesaving aid through their own appeals 
whilst working in very challenging circumstances.

This will be my last year as Chair of the DEC. I am honoured 
to have been part of an organisation that has allocated over 
half a billion pounds to our member charities for life-changing 
humanitarian programmes over the last five-year strategic 
period. It has also been an absolute privilege to personally 
witness the results on the ground with Rohingya refugees in 
Bangladesh and people affected by floods in Pakistan.

Our partnerships are a key part of what makes the DEC 
unique, and this year we welcomed The i Paper, our first 
print media partner, and the Co-operative Bank to our Rapid 
Response Network, which helps us alert the UK public to our 
appeals and sets up easy ways for them to donate. This year 
we also marked ten years of partnership with British Airways, 
who have raised £2 million to date for DEC appeals. 

Looking forward, next year the DEC embarks on a new five-
year strategy. The emergencies we respond to are ever more 
complex and impacted by geopolitics and climate change. 
Technology is advancing, media consumption is shifting and 
new audience needs are emerging. Our new strategy ensures 
we can collectively continue to serve the humanitarian  
needs of disaster-affected communities despite the many 
pressures felt at home and abroad.

I hope you will read with pride about the extraordinary impact 
of our work this year — a result of the generosity, commitment, 
competence and compassion of our colleagues, partners, 
fundraisers and supporters who come together to help 
others in times of crisis. This is the strength of the DEC, the 
organisation I am honoured to have been part of for the last 
six years. 

Thank you for your ongoing support.

 

Sue Inglish   
Chair of Trustees 
14 August 2024 

 

This year we celebrated the 60th anniversary of the DEC. In those six decades, our 
supporters have helped us raise an incredible £2.4 billion for 77 appeals, reflecting the 
extraordinary generosity of the UK public. Together our member charities and their local 
partners have made a profound difference to millions of people’s lives during some of 
the world’s worst humanitarian disasters.
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Cover image: Healthcare worker Muayad checks the blood pressue of Ahmed* as part of a DEC-funded programme to provide mobile healthcare 
services to displaced people in their tent homes in Syria after the earthquakes.

 

Ramya* (29) outside her tent home in Syria, where a DEC member charity provided families like hers with cash vouchers to help buy essential 
winter items to stay warm and safe after the earthquakes.
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To mark the occasion, their Majesties the King and Queen 
hosted a reception at Buckingham Palace to recognise the 
incredible UK response to disasters overseas in the last six 
decades. During the event, the King and Queen met our 
Chief Executive, Saleh Saeed, and high profile supporters 
including Dame Joanna Lumley, Sir Michael Palin and Adrian 
Lester, who have all helped launch DEC appeals. The event 
was also attended by representatives from the DEC’s Rapid 
Response Network (RRN), broadcast partners, community 
fundraisers, member charities and others.

NatWest Group, part of the RRN, sponsored two events 
to mark our 60th anniversary — one in Belfast and one in 
Edinburgh — while the Lord Provost of Glasgow hosted an 
event in the City Chambers bringing together supporters, 
fundraisers, DEC partners and representatives of diaspora 
communities from places the DEC has supported. There was 
a live performance from long-standing DEC supporters Belle 
and Sebastian.

Our newest RRN partner, The i Paper, also published a ‘big 
read’ feature on the DEC’s 60th anniversary, including an 
interview with Saleh Saeed. There was also a feature in  
the Herald.
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His Majesty the King welcomes DEC CEO Saleh Saeed and Dame Joanna Lumley at  
the humanitarian reception at Buckingham Palace.

“�The DEC represents the best of humanity: 
when really big international disasters 
happen, and extremely vulnerable people 
need urgent aid, the DEC steps into action.  
It’s always so inspiring to see how people 
across the UK respond time and time again 
to help families and communities affected by 
crises in places so far away. I’m very proud 
to have been involved with the DEC for many 
appeals - since I first presented an appeal for 
people affected by the India Cyclone in 1999 
— and I’m delighted to continue to do so.”

From earthquakes to floods, hunger and drought, to the impacts of conflict and climate 
change, your donations have supported millions of people when disaster strikes.

DEC appeals have included the famine in Ethiopia in 1984, the war in Kosovo in 1999  
and the Boxing Day Tsunami of 2004. This year we marked 60 years since the formation 
of the DEC in 1963.

60 YEARS OF THE DEC

“�As we face challenging times both 
at home and across the world, I am 
incredibly proud of the work of the DEC 
and its member charities over the last 
60 years. With the generous support of 
the UK public, the DEC has supported 
communities in over 60 countries, 
helping people to survive and recover 
in the wake of all kinds of disaster.”Saleh Saeed, DEC Chief Executive

Dame Joanna Lumley, DEC supporter

 | About the DEC | Annual Report | 03 02 | Annual Report | About the DEC | 

£2.4
BILLION RAISED
for people affected 
by disaster in more 
than 60 countries

77
APPEALS

launched in response 
to humanitarian 

disasters

The DEC was formed after a cyclone hit Sri Lanka in 
1963 and the High Commissioner in London broadcast 
an appeal to the UK public to help. Major broadcasters 
began to envisage a situation where they might face 
requests from separate humanitarian agencies that 
they would find difficult to refuse.

Lord Astor, chairman of the Standing Conference of 
British Organisations for Aid to Refugees, proposed that 
relief agencies and interested parties should cooperate 
closely to provide relief after a disaster overseas. 
The British Red Cross agreed to co-ordinate and the 
Disasters Emergency Committee was recognised by the 
BBC as a representative body.

From five original members of the DEC — the British 
Red Cross, Save the Children, Inter-Church Aid (now 
Christian Aid), the Oxford Committee for Famine Relief 
(now Oxfam) and War on Want — there are now 15 
member charities and an ever growing Rapid Response 
Network of corporate and media partners. 

The DEC’s first appeal came three years later in 
response to an earthquake in Varto, Turkey (now known 
as Türkiye), in 1966. Sixty years on, our partners are 
responding to the Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal.

Our history
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When large-scale disasters hit countries without the capacity to respond, the DEC brings 
together 15 leading UK aid charities to raise funds quickly and efficiently. In these times 
of crisis, people in life-and-death situations need help and our mission is to save, protect 
and rebuild lives through effective humanitarian response. OUR VISION

A world where the impact of disasters on affected communities is minimised by working 
together through effective humanitarian response and growing resilience.

OUR MISSION
Together we will raise funds to save, protect and rebuild the lives of people that are 
impacted by emergencies and major disasters in countries overseas. We will:

• �Raise funds quickly and effectively in large scale humanitarian emergencies  

• Uphold the highest standards of accountability and transparency  

• Learn and share information to promote effective programmes of response. 

CHARITABLE OBJECTIVES OF THE ORGANISATION
• �Providing an accredited national forum for joint fundraising by UK charitable voluntary 

sector NGOs (“agencies”) in order to maximise the funds raised and facilitate 
immediate commitment from participating agencies

• �Creating a focal point for the response of the public, broadcasters and others to such 
disasters 

• �Facilitating agency cooperation, coordination and communication

• �Ensuring that funds raised are used in an effective, timely, fully accountable way. 

THE DEC’S WORK FOCUSES ON FOUR GOALS:

1  Launch the right appeals, at the right time using agreed criteria and working closely 
with our Rapid Response Network partners

2 Maximise the money we raise for each appeal through constant improvement 
across our existing income streams, and continue to develop insights about current and 
prospective donors 

3  Increase the impact of the funds we raise for the people and communities  
affected by crises by ensuring funds are used efficiently and effectively, supporting 
adaptive programmes that best meet the needs of affected people, and evaluating  
DEC-funded work

4  Preserve and strengthen the public’s willingness to donate to humanitarian crises 
overseas positioning the DEC as the ‘central coordinator’ of the UK’s fundraising appeals 
for humanitarian crises and applying learnings from audience research.

The DEC has 15 members, as follows:

Action Against Hunger UK 

ActionAid UK

Age International 

British Red Cross 

CAFOD 

CARE International UK 

Christian Aid 

Concern Worldwide (UK) 

International Rescue Committee UK 

Islamic Relief Worldwide 

Oxfam GB 

Plan International UK 

Save the Children UK 

Tearfund 

World Vision UK
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Saleh Saeed, DEC Chief Executive, takes part in a door-to-door distribution in a remote 
mountainous village in rural Gaziantep province, Turkey. 

DEC broadcast partners are:
BBC 

Channel 4 

Channel 5

ITV 

Sky
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TRUSTEES’ ANNUAL REPORT
ABOUT THE DEC

The DEC responds to the world’s worst disasters using a set of criteria to help us 
decide when we launch an appeal and how we can be most effective. 

WHEN WE LAUNCH AN APPEAL

• �The disaster must be on such a scale and of such urgency as to call for swift 
international humanitarian assistance.

• �The DEC member charities, or some of them, must be in a position to provide  
effective and swift humanitarian assistance at a scale to justify a national appeal.

• �There must be reasonable grounds for concluding that a public appeal would  
be successful, either because of evidence of existing public sympathy for the 
humanitarian situation, or because there is a compelling case including the likelihood  
of significant public support should an appeal be launched.
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Our priority is delivering aid and 
support to those that need it, quickly 
and efficiently. Decisions about how 
we allocate your money to each 
of our members when a disaster 
strikes are taken in advance, based 
on a calculation of the indicator 
of capacity (IoC) assessing each 
member’s ability to fundraise 
as well as deliver aid where it is 
needed. We make certain that how 
we spend your money ensures that 
communities receive the urgent 
humanitarian aid required, as well  
as support to rebuild their lives after 
a disaster.

HOW WE SPEND AND  
ALLOCATE YOUR MONEY

The DEC’s work is governed by a 
commitment to best practice and being 
accountable to both our donors and 
those affected by disasters. Our high 
standards begin with our membership, 
for which we have a strict set of criteria 
to make sure that the DEC is made 
up of the UK’s leading aid charities. 
We conduct and publish regular 
independent programme evaluations 
to check our members’ disaster 
responses are really helping the 
communities that need them most.

HOW WE ENSURE QUALITY  
AND ACCOUNTABILITY

A baby born in a DEC-funded hospital in Syria is 
welcomed by her siblings. Their mother Baraa 
received maternity care at the camp hospital. 
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Hatay in Turkey, where DEC member charities are providing support to survivors, is one of the regions worst 
affected by the devastating earthquakes.
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STRATEGIC REPORT 

We only launch an appeal when all the criteria are met. During this reporting period —  
1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024 — the DEC did not launch any new appeals. 

Every year, DEC staff work closely with our member charities and Rapid Response 
Network (RRN) to monitor new and ongoing crises. We assess against three criteria: the 
scale and urgency of the disaster, the ability of our member charities to provide effective  
and swift humanitarian assistance, and the likelihood that the public would support  
an appeal. Not every crisis meets all three.

Ongoing appeals and fundraising
Our member charities continued their work on four DEC appeals, 
supporting communities in Afghanistan, Pakistan, Ukraine, 
Poland, Romania, Moldova, Hungary, Turkey and Syria (see  
pages 12-21 for more details of this work). And we continued  
to accept donations for the Pakistan Floods Appeal (until it 
closed in December 2023), the Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal 
and the Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal, which remained  
open at the end of the financial year.

Flexible funding

Although we have not launched any new appeals, our flexible 
funding strategy allows DEC member charities to respond 
to unforeseen developments and changing needs in places 
where they are already working through our existing appeal 
programmes. As a result, our members were able to use DEC 
appeal funds to respond quickly to the earthquake in Herat, 
Afghanistan, in October 2023, the Kakhovka dam breach in 
Ukraine in June 2023, and extreme weather conditions in  
Turkey and Syria. 

This year we closely monitored the devastating conflict in Gaza 
and Israel, which has escalated since October 2023. During 
our reporting period the limited access for humanitarian aid to 
enter Gaza meant that not all of our launch criteria could be met. 
However, 14 DEC member charities launched appeals to help 
civilians affected by the conflict and have been able to deliver 
significant aid programmes. We directed people seeking to donate 
to our member charity appeals via our website and social media.

We also continued to monitor the conflict in Sudan, which broke 
out in April 2023 and has led to a massive humanitarian crisis 
with more than six million people fleeing their homes and severe 
food shortages, as well as the ongoing East Africa hunger crisis 
where an estimated 89 million people are acutely food insecure. 
In September 2023 we assessed the earthquake in Morocco 
and the dam collapse in Libya. While all these crises are deeply 
concerning, they did not meet all the criteria for launching 
appeals. However, several DEC member charities have a presence 
in these countries, either directly or through local partners, and 
have been responding. 

We continue to closely monitor for any changes on the ground and 
direct donors to our member appeals.

GOAL 1: LAUNCH THE RIGHT APPEALS AT THE 
RIGHT TIME

Healthcare worker Muayad walks between the tents of displaced families, visiting patients in their homes in Syria. Many of the camp’s residents do not have the money or means to reach hospitals and health centres.
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A village committee in session in Sindh, Pakistan, where a DEC member charity’s local partner is sharing ideas with flood-affected communities and incorporating their feedback into the 
aid response.

©
 K

ha
ul

a 
Ja

m
il/

DE
C



Disasters Emergency Committee – Year to 31 March 2024 Disasters Emergency Committee – Year to 31 March 2024

 08 | Annual Report  | Goal 2 | 

This year the DEC continued to accept donations for the Pakistan Floods Appeal, the 
Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal and the Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal. The Ukraine  
and Turkey-Syria appeals — two of the largest in the DEC’s 60-year history — remained  
open this financial year. The Pakistan Floods Appeal closed in December 2023. 

GOAL 2: MAXIMISE THE MONEY WE RAISE FOR  
EACH APPEAL

Reporting back to donors, partners and 
supporters
Feedback campaigns are a vital part of our fundraising. By 
showing our supporters and the wider public the impact of 
their donations, we can help to build their trust in the DEC and 
the effectiveness of humanitarian aid, thereby increasing their 
confidence when responding to emergency appeals in the future. 

This financial year we ran reporting back campaigns for three of 
our appeals (Pakistan, Ukraine and Turkey-Syria) with a wide range 
of communications and marketing activities. These included press 
releases, short films and videos, reports, photography exhibitions, 
celebrity and media trips, adverts, social media updates and 
emails to supporters, key donors and partners. Private webinars 
featuring speakers from our member charities were also held  
to report back on our work to high value donors, corporates,  
trusts and foundations. For more detailed information about  
the reporting back campaigns see Goal 4 (page 22). 
 
Support across UK nations
The DEC continued to develop its partnerships and networks in 
the UK nations, deepening our relationship with audiences in 
Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland. 

In Wales the DEC hosted a Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal feedback 
event at the Senedd in Cardiff at the end of March 2023, which 
was attended by Senedd members, key corporate and third 
sector partners and DEC member charities based in Wales. The 
fundraising totals in Wales increased to £15.3 million (Ukraine), 
£1.4 million (Pakistan) and £4.8 million (Turkey-Syria). The one-
year-on reporting back campaign for the Turkey-Syria Earthquake 
appeal was particularly successful, supported  

by a range of bilingual media content, including the DEC’s first 
Welsh language hero film, The Locker/Y Locer. Political, corporate 
and third sector contacts received bilingual updates on our work 
for all three reporting back campaigns and media interviews were 
conducted on each, as well as on the DEC appeal criteria and 
60th anniversary.

In Scotland the DEC secured strong media coverage on our 
feedback campaigns. An estimated £38.4 million (Ukraine), 
£5.0 million (Pakistan) and £13.7 million (Turkey-Syria) have 
now been raised for those appeals in Scotland. Key RRN 
partner, NatWest Group, hosted an appeal feedback reception 
in Edinburgh attended by Scottish Government External Affairs 
Cabinet Secretary. In February, Glasgow’s Lord Provost, Jacqueline 
McLaren, also hosted a 60th anniversary celebration in the 
City Chambers, bringing together supporters, fundraisers, DEC 
partners and representatives of diaspora communities from 
places the DEC has supported, including Ethiopia, Syria, Turkey, 
Somalia and Pakistan. There was a live performance from long-
standing DEC supporters Belle and Sebastian. The DEC also gave 
a presentation to the COSLA annual convention, the gathering of 
the leaders of all of Scotland’s local councils.

In Northern Ireland a private ‘thank you’ dinner, hosted by 
NatWest Group, was held in Belfast to mark the 60th anniversary. 
It was an opportunity to thank corporate and political supporters, 
while introducing the DEC to new corporate partners. It also 
provided a chance to report back on our appeals.

The Isle of Man Government donated £100,000 to the Turkey-
Syria Earthquake Appeal this financial year, in addition to the 
£100,000 they gave at the appeal launch.  
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The Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal was launched in March 2022 
following a dramatic escalation in conflict and has now raised 
£437 million including £25 million matched by the UK Government 
through the UK Aid Match scheme. Funds will be spent up until  
the end of February 2025. 

The Pakistan Floods Appeal was launched in September 2022 
when heavy monsoon rains led to some of the worst flooding in the 
country’s history. The appeal raised £50 million in total, including 
£5 million matched by the UK Government through the UK Aid 
Match scheme. This appeal closed in December 2023. Appeal 
funds will be spent up until the end of August 2024.

The Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal was launched in February 
2023 after two devastating earthquakes in Turkey killed more 
than 56,000 people. The total raised by 31 March 2024 was 
£162 million including £5 million matched by the UK Government 
through the UK Aid Match scheme. This made the DEC the biggest 
charity donor to the earthquake response, according to UN OCHA’s 
Financial Tracking Service, and the appeal is the third biggest in the 
DEC’s history. Funds will be spent up until the end of January 2025.

The Prince and Princess of Wales meet fundraisers at an event at Hayes Muslim Centre, London, in March 2023 to support the DEC Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal.
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A community fundraising event for the DEC Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal 
at St Stephen’s Church of England Primary School in Twickenham.
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The DEC thanks the Welsh Government and the Welsh Rapid Response Network for their contributions to the success of the DEC Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal at an event at the 
Senedd in Cardiff.

Piccadilly Lights in London feature the DEC Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal.
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RAPID RESPONSE NETWORK ENGAGEMENT IN 2023-2024

We are grateful for the continued support of our Rapid Response 
Network (RRN) of media and corporate partners whose 
communications channels dramatically increase the reach  
of our appeals and campaigns. 

This year we added one new corporate member, the Co-operative 
Bank, and one new media member, The i Paper, to the RRN. 

The DEC receives incredible support from the retail banking sector 
and so we were delighted to formalise our partnership with the  
Co-operative Bank at the beginning of 2024. The bank has 
supported the last three consecutive DEC appeals, raising over 
£750,000 collectively by harnessing the generosity of their 
customers and colleagues. They will continue to support our 
appeals with communications to employees and customers, 
setting up easy donation channels and by committing to a 
matching pledge where possible.

Following the fantastic support that The i Paper gave to the  
DEC Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal — with over £850,000  

Total funds raised for DEC appeals 
 

Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal	 09/02/2023	 113,921	 48,217	 162,138

Pakistan Floods Appeal	 01/09/2022	 38,171	 11,829	 50,000

Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal	 03/03/2022	 307,116	 130,333	 437,449

Afghanistan Crisis Appeal	 15/12/2021	 39,863	 12,763	 52,626

Launch date Total raised 
£’000

Member charities 
£’000

DEC income 
£’000

The total income for each appeal includes both donations made directly to the DEC and donations made to our 15 member charities,  
from the point of appeal launch to 31 March 2024. The DEC income includes appeal donations, Gift Aid and legacies. Some appeals’ 
income spreads over more than one financial year. 

TOTAL DEC APPEAL INCOME

UK Government Aid Match and Gift Aid

During the last five-year strategic period (2019-2024), the UK Government pledged £55 million in UK Aid Match donations across five 
appeals. This includes £25 million for the Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal. These UK Aid Match commitments provide a further incentive  
for the UK public to donate to DEC appeals.

During the year, the DEC received Gift Aid reclaims from the UK Government on donations made by UK tax payers totalling £7.4 million  
(2023: £13 million).

Our RRN partner NatWest Group sponsored two events to mark the DEC’s 60th 
anniversary, in Edinburgh (above) and Belfast (below).

The DEC’s RRN partners join our 60th anniversary event hosted by their Majesties the King  
and Queen at Buckingham Palace, London.

Local aid worker Muhammed works with an earthquake-affected community in Syria to ensure their opinions and ideas regarding the DEC-funded cash voucher distribution  
project are taken on board.

©
 A

li 
Ha

j S
ul

ei
m

an
/D

EC

raised by their readers through significant media coverage —  
the DEC signed a memorandum of understanding in  
July 2023 to make The i Paper part of the RRN. The i Paper  
is the first newspaper partner to join the RRN.

In February this year Molly Blackall, The i Paper Global Affairs 
Correspondent, travelled to Gaziantep in Turkey to visit  
DEC-funded projects. She wrote three features after witnessing 
work carried out by local partners of DEC member charities 
Action Against Hunger, Oxfam and the International Rescue 
Committee. The i Paper also published a “big read” feature on 
the 60th anniversary of the DEC.

In July 2023, a team from DEC partner British Airways  
travelled to Warsaw, Poland, to see work funded through  
the Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal. This year also marked  
the ten-year anniversary of the airline’s partnership with  
the DEC, during which time British Airways has raised  
£2 million for DEC appeals. 
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Broadcaster William Crawley (right) hosts a 60th anniversary event for the DEC in Belfast with the DEC’s Saleh Saeed (left) and Darren Vaughan (centre) from DEC charity 
Concern Worldwide.
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People were also trained in different agricultural practices that  
would withstand climate change, such as crop diversification and  
soil management. Grants enabled communities to buy equipment  
and livestock, helping them to produce crops.  

When earthquakes hit Herat province in October 2023, several 
DEC charities used funds from the appeal to support survivors, 
highlighting the flexible nature of our funding which allows 
members to remain agile in response to changing needs.

Operating in an environment with severe restrictions, member 
charities and their partners faced huge challenges. One of the 
greatest of these challenges was the government banning women 
from working in the humanitarian sector in December 2022. 
Female aid workers are essential in any response, but particularly 
in Afghanistan, where it would not be culturally appropriate for 
male staff to interact with women in many settings. DEC charities 
used their long experience to innovate and adapt, integrating 
other forms of support into health and nutrition programmes, 
where female staff were still allowed to work.

Learning from the response 
The DEC and member charities use learning from past and current 
emergency responses to make sure funds are used appropriately 
and programmes meet the highest standards. We took measures  

The DEC launched the Afghanistan Crisis Appeal in December 
2021, after drought, economic collapse and rising global food prices 
pushed millions to the brink of famine. Overall the appeal raised 
£52.6 million, including £29.8 million in direct donations to the DEC,  
£10.0 million in UK Aid Match from the UK Government, and £12.8 
million donated to member charities. The appeal has now closed.

We report on funds that come directly to the DEC (£39.8 million 
including £10.0 million UK Aid Match). Member charities and local 
partners report on income that comes directly to them. 

From December 2021 to December 2023, 13 DEC member charities 
and their local partners provided vital support to an estimated  
2.7 million* people, responding in two phases of work.

In the first six months they prioritised urgent needs, such as food, 
health, shelter and water, multi-purpose cash assistance, sanitation 
and hygiene. During the second phase — July 2022 until the end of 
December 2023 — our members and their partners continued to 
support people to meet their essential needs, while also helping  
to rebuild livelihoods, increasing the ability of families and 
communities to cope with future shocks. 

For example, food packages and multi-purpose cash assistance 
helped people to feed themselves and their families, while mobile 
health units brought essential healthcare to remote communities. 
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GOAL 3: INCREASE THE IMPACT OF THE FUNDS  
WE RAISE FOR THE PEOPLE AND COMMUNITIES 
AFFECTED BY CRISES

Phase 2 key achievements in Afghanistan from July 2022 to December 2023:

75,000
people provided with 
food assistance

176,000
people reached through 
awareness-raising 
campaigns on sanitation 
and hygiene

276,000 
people reached through 
nutrition activities, including  
screening and treatment  
for young children

422,000
people given cash 
assistance to pay for  
food, clothes and other 
essentials

49,000
people accessed mental health 
and psychosocial support

713,000
people including mothers 
with young children given 
access to primary healthcare

1,380
community health workers 
trained, including in community 
based health and first aid

27,000
people able to access  
a source of safe  
drinking water

48,000
people given seeds, poultry 
kits, farming equipment 
and training to help rebuild 
livelihoods
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OVERVIEW

AFGHANISTAN CRISIS APPEAL

A DEC member charity distributes multi-purpose cash allowing families in Afghanistan to buy food and other essentials.

December 2021 – December 2023
EXPENDITURE BY SECTOR
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£36.8 million 
expenditure (December 
2021 – December 2023) 

2.7 million* 
people estimated to have 
been helped with DEC funds

to ensure that projects were accountable to communities, 
supported a locally-led response, had robust safeguarding  
policies in place to protect the welfare of vulnerable adults  
and children, and protected the environment.

Furthermore, at the end of the appeal in December 2023 
we commissioned a learning and improvement review. 
Key lessons included the importance of looking after the 
mental health of staff and volunteers working for partner 
organisations; making sure marginalised groups such as 
women can be involved in home-based projects to bypass 
societal and operational barriers; recognising the need to 
integrate disaster risk reduction and climate resilience into 
humanitarian programmes; and the need to be flexible  
and prioritise projects in response to the changing needs  
of communities. 

Looking forward 
After decades of conflict, instability and the recent 
earthquakes, the situation in Afghanistan is still critical.  
The DEC appeal has now ended, but member charities  
and local partners are determined to keep doing what  
they can to support the people of Afghanistan. Some of  
our members have secured extra funding to continue  
their work.

*While efforts have been made to avoid counting people twice, some people may have been 
helped more than once by different member charities.

More than
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PLANNED EXPENDITURE BY SECTOR

On 1 September 2022, the DEC launched an appeal to provide 
urgent aid to the millions of people affected by some of the worst 
floods in Pakistan’s history. The water destroyed thousands of 
homes, schools and health facilities and contaminated crucial 
water sources. It also damaged extensive areas of crops and killed 
1.2 million livestock, wiping out the main source of income for 
many communities and leaving over 14 million people in need of 
emergency food assistance. The floods affected an estimated  
33 million people across 94 districts. 

The appeal raised a total of £50 million, including £5 million 
in UK Aid Match funding from the UK Government and £11.8 
million raised by DEC member charities. The income channels 
closed in December 2023. 

The first six months of the programme focused on helping people 
to meet their immediate needs, with our member charities 
providing emergency shelter, clean water, food, healthcare and 
cash payments. 

The second phase, which began in March 2023 and will run 
until the end of August 2024, prioritises helping flood-affected 
communities recover and rebuild their livelihoods, as well as 

Dr Hussain (right) shows local farmers affected by the floods in Sindh, Pakistan, how to use a soil moisture meter at a DEC-funded capacity-strenghtening workshop on climate-
smart agriculture.

Phase 2 key achievements in Pakistan from March 2023 to February 2024:

21,500
people accessed mental 
health and psychosocial 
support services

183,700
people given access to 
safe drinking water

250,700
children screened  
and 33,300 treated for 
malnutrition

94,300
people given agricultural 
support such as seeds, 
training on livelihoods and 
income generating activities	
				  
				  

82
education spaces 
established or rehabilitated

452,800
people given access to 
quality basic health 
services including mothers 
with young children

181
disaster risk reduction  
plans developed in 
collaboration with  
community committees		
				  
			 

86,600
people received cash  
to purchase food, restore 
their livelihoods, or meet 
basic needs

78,300 
people provided with 
hygiene and dignity kits, 
containing items including 
soap and toothpaste

supporting activities to mitigate the impact of future floods, 
including planting trees that can help absorb rainwater and  
reduce coastal erosion, and offering training on topics such 
as climate change awareness, disaster risk management, 
environmental risk factors, first aid and climate-smart agriculture. 
So far communities have planted more than 110,000 trees.

For those who don’t have access to enough land to grow crops, 
projects are focusing on income-generating activities such as 
poultry farming, distributing livestock such as goats and providing 
vocational skills training and cash grants to support the growth  
of small businesses.

In addition, our member charities have continued to help the  
most vulnerable meet their basic needs, including providing 
nutrition support and cash assistance, so people can feed 
themselves and their families, as well as rebuilding water  
points and distributing hygiene kits. 

Between March 2023 and February 2024, DEC member  
charities and their local partners helped around 1.45 million* 
people. In this period, £9.8 million was spent out of a total  
Phase 2 budget of £24.1 million.

PAKISTAN FLOODS APPEAL

£21.6 million 
expenditure (September 
2022 – February 2024) 

1.45 million*
people estimated to have 
been helped with DEC funds

Guddi with her children in Sindh, Pakistan, bought her first goat thanks to a 
DEC-funded cash grant provided by one of our member charities working on 
rebuilding livelihoods after the floods.©
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*While efforts have been made to avoid counting people twice, some people may have been 
helped more than once by different member charities.

March 2023 – February 2024
EXPENDITURE BY SECTOR
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The DEC launched its appeal in February 2023 after devastating 
earthquakes killed more than 56,000 people in Turkey and  
north-west Syria and destroyed or badly damaged more than 
300,000 buildings. More than 18 million people were directly 
affected by the earthquakes. By 31 March 2024, the total raised 
by the appeal was £162.1 million. Of this, £113.9 million was 
raised by the DEC, including £5.0 million matched by the UK 
government through the UK Aid Match scheme. The remaining 
£48.2 million was raised directly by DEC member charities  
using DEC co-branding. 

Since the launch of the appeal, fourteen DEC member charities 
and their partners have spent £44.8 million reaching more than  
2.2 million* people affected by the earthquakes.

More than one year on, many thousands of people in Turkey are 
still living in makeshift camps and continue to face challenges 
such as water shortages and inadequate sanitation. In north-
west Syria the earthquakes exacerbated twelve years of ongoing 
hostility and instability. The United Nations estimates that 16.7 
million Syrians will need humanitarian assistance in 2024 —  
10 per cent more than in 2023. 

In the first six months of the response the priority was to meet 
the immediate needs of the most affected communities, 
providing food, shelter and cash payments, repairing damaged 
water infrastructure, building toilets and setting up mobile 
health clinics. 

| Goal 3 | Annual Report | 1716 | Annual Report  | Goal 3 | 

PLANNED EXPENDITURE BY SECTOR

Phase 1 key achievements in Turkey-
Syria from February 2023 to July 2023:

47,000 
people given cash payments or vouchers to 
buy food, clothes and other household items	
	

503,000
people provided with improved access  
to drinking water through rehabilitating 
water points and water trucking

269,000
people provided with emergency food 
parcels or vouchers to buy food

285,000
people given cash payments or 
vouchers to buy food, medicine, 
clothing and other items			 
					   

32,000
people accessed mental health and psychosocial 
support or other protection services 

921,000
people provided with safe  
drinking water

February 2023 – January 2024
EXPENDITURE BY SECTOR
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150,000
people provided with kits including 
blankets, kitchen items and clothing

11,000
people provided with livelihood support through 
farming equipment, veterinary services for 
livestock and technical assistance 

Phase 2 key achievements in Turkey-Syria 
from August 2023 to January 2024:

February 2023 – January 2024

12 MONTH EXPENDITURE BY COUNTRY

31% Turkey

67% Syria

2%   �Regional  
initiatives

In the second six-month phase (August 2023 to January 2024), 
activities have shifted towards longer term support, including 
restoring people’s livelihoods, while still helping to meet the basic 
needs of the most vulnerable people affected by the disaster. 

In Turkey, nine DEC member charities and their partners have  
been helping communities by improving access to drinkable  
water and hygiene and sanitation facilities in the remaining  
refugee camps, providing mental health and psychosocial  
support, distributing cash and voucher assistance, and helping 
people rebuild their livelihoods. For example, farmers have 
received farming equipment, technical assistance and  
veterinary services for livestock, while others have received 
vocational and entrepreneurship training.

Meanwhile, in Syria fourteen DEC member charities have reached 
thousands of people by providing access to primary healthcare 
(through the rehabilitation of healthcare facilities and distribution 
of healthcare equipment) and mental health and psychosocial 
support, and providing water, hygiene and sanitation services 
and multi-purpose cash assistance. Projects also support income 
generating activities such as offering grants for small businesses. 

Over this six-month period, £3.7 million has been spent in Turkey 
and £13.3 million has been spent in Syria. The programme will  
run until 31 January 2025.
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TURKEY-SYRIA EARTHQUAKE APPEAL

£44.8 million 
 expenditure (February  
2023 – January 2024) 

2.2 million*
people estimated to have 
been helped with DEC funds

Ahmet* collects a hygiene kit from Saleh Saeed, DEC Chief Executive, at a camp in Kahramanmaraş for people who lost their homes in the earthquake.

*While efforts have been made to avoid counting people twice, some people may have 
been helped more than once by different member charities.
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The DEC launched the Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal 
in March 2022 following a dramatic escalation 
in conflict. Two years on, the appeal has raised 
£437 million including £25 million matched by 
the UK Government, making it one of the largest 
DEC appeals of all time. The incredible amounts 
raised have helped to support 8.2 million* people 
in Ukraine and neighbouring countries. There are 
thirteen DEC member charities involved in the 
response, working with local partners on 37 projects 
in five countries: Ukraine, Poland, Romania, Moldova 
and Hungary. Programme work will run until the end 
of February 2025. 

Before the escalation of conflict Tatiana lived in Odesa, Ukraine, and worked as a tailor. She has since moved to Moldova and volunteers at an aid distribution warehouse 
supported by a DEC member charity.
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Phase 2 key achievements from September 2022 to February 2024:

187,000 
people provided 
with hygiene and 
dignity kits

463,000 
people provided with 
food assistance, 
including food baskets 
and hot meals 

25,000
adults and children 
took part in integration 
and social cohesion 
activities

865,000
people received 
protection support, 
including referrals to 
specialist services 

March 2022 – February 2024

58% Ukraine

19% Poland

14% Romania

5% Moldova

1% Hungary

3% Regional initiatives 

TWO-YEAR EXPENDITURE BY COUNTRY

UKRAINE HUMANITARIAN APPEAL

Two years on from the launch of the appeal, DEC 
member charities and their local partners have spent 
£223.9 million on programmes in five countries. 
The majority of DEC aid expenditure has been inside 
Ukraine (58%), helping people meet their basic needs 
by providing cash payments, food, shelter, hygiene 
items, healthcare, mental health support and by 
repairing damaged water and sanitation infrastructure. 

Funds from the Ukraine appeal have also been 
used to support refugees with the basics, such as 
food, medical support and clothing, and to settle 
into new countries. Refugees have been helped to 
access longer term accommodation, legal advice and 
language classes. DEC member charities and partners 
have also organised events to bring refugees and host 
communities together, so that refugees get to know 
the cultures of their host countries and refugee and 
host children can play together. 
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Veronika in her home in Odesa, Ukraine, with one of her ten 
foster children. Veronika and her family are one of thousands of 
families that benefited from the supply of clean water, thanks to 
local infrastructure upgrades.

March 2022 – February 2024
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TWO-YEAR EXPENDITURE BY SECTOR

£223.9 million 
 expenditure (March 2022 
– February 2024) 

8.2 million*
people estimated to have 
been helped with DEC funds

37% 

7%

3%

*While efforts have been made to avoid counting people twice, some people may have been 
helped more than once by different member charities.

89,300
people received 
legal assistance 
and advice

149,000
people reached with 
mental health support 
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As the conflict has worn on and the humanitarian crisis 
continues to evolve, DEC charities have responded to new 
developments in Ukraine and neighbouring countries. 

The constant movement of people, the changes in the 
presence of humanitarian organisations, funding availability 
and the insecurity in Ukraine have all meant that it’s been 
important for member charities and local partners to 
adapt their work. For example, with the attacks on energy 
infrastructure, the DEC’s flexible funding model allowed 
member charities and local partners to adapt their plans. 
Organisations could direct funds where they were most 
needed, supplying and installing generators for people 
without electricity and the means to keep warm and dry.

As the frontline of the conflict moved, DEC member charities 
have also adapted their activities in response. For example, 
when areas of Kharkiv Oblast were retaken by Ukrainian 
forces, charities provided aid to people in villages in the 

The DEC is incorporating innovative ways of working into its 
appeal responses to make projects more efficient and effective 
and bring value for money. 

This new approach is based on a two track method. The 
first track (known as Engine 1) uses tried-and-tested means 
to deliver aid quickly, such as providing food, clothes and 
access to housing. The second (Engine 2) invests in trying new 
approaches, giving DEC member charities and their partners 
the space to experiment with new models and ways of working, 
driven by staff on the ground and communities’ needs. 
Examples include research, capacity strengthening, collective 
work and new partnerships, with a focus on safeguarding, 
localisation, accountability to affected populations and 
information as aid. 

The aim is not only to provide aid where it is most needed but 
also to improve the way that the aid system itself works, in 
order to strengthen future humanitarian responses.

The Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal was the first DEC response 
to put the dual approach into practice. So far over £10 million 
has been spent on innovation projects in Ukraine, Poland, 
Romania, Hungary and Slovakia. This approach is now 
underway in Turkey and Syria as well.

area and began repairs to homes in Kharkiv city. They 
also began working in Kherson city after it was retaken 
by Ukraine, going on to help people affected by the 
destruction of the Kakhovka dam and subsequent 
flooding in June 2023.

While fighting continues to drive people from their 
homes, for many displaced people in Ukraine – and 
refugees who have fled to neighbouring countries – life 
is very different. From setting up temporary, emergency 
accommodation, DEC charities are now focusing more 
on providing longer term accommodation. And while at 
the beginning of the response DEC funds were used to 
help the millions of refugees meet their basic needs, 
now our member charities are looking at people’s longer 
term needs. For example, DEC funds are also being 
used to set up specialist centres where refugees can 
access various kinds of support, including mental health 
services, language courses and childcare. 

 

Spotlight on innovative projects

The biggest Engine 2 project within the Ukraine 
Humanitarian Appeal is Sustainable Humanitarian 
Innovation for Transformation (SHIFT), a £10 million 
partnership between Save the Children and an 
independent partner.

SHIFT aims to transfer power to the most affected – and 
best placed to respond – by providing training, coaching 
and mentoring, research and analysis, cash and voucher 
assistance, grants and professional advice and services in 
Ukraine, Poland and Romania. SHIFT is also now active in 
the Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal response. 

SHIFT has:

  �strengthened local leadership by creating an Eastern 
European Regional Centre as part of its response

  �increased engagement of country office staff and local 
actors in decision making and established a network to 
promote dialogue and debate

  �created new partnerships between local groups

  ��supported the growth of local entrepreneurs by 
providing grants of up to US$15,000, boosting their 
revenue growth by five to twenty per cent.

Collaborative Cash Delivery Network (CCD), is a global 
network of international NGOs working together to improve 
the quality and delivery of cash and voucher assistance 
in humanitarian crises. It received £3.3 million as part of 
the Ukraine appeal to expand its services to support aid 
agencies to deliver cash effectively and efficiently within 
Ukraine, Poland and Romania. 

As part of the Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal, the CCD has: 

  �provided flexible and accessible funding to grassroots 
initiatives, enabling local communities to define their 
own priorities in terms of multi-purpose cash assistance

  ��facilitated communication and collaboration between 
international actors from the Cash Working Group and 
local NGOs

  ��contributed to evidence-based decision making, 
resulting in concrete changes to local cash and voucher 
projects, thanks to evidence generated by the project.

 

ADAPTING TO CHANGING NEEDS PUTTING INNOVATION AT  
THE HEART OF OUR WORK

Children from Ukraine take part in activities at a DEC-funded psychosocial centre in Chisinau, Moldova, providing a safe space run by the local partner of a  
DEC member charity.
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Construction work takes place on a large water tank in a container camp in Turkey, where DEC 
funds are supporting access to clean water for people who lost their homes in the earthquakes.
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Our approach increasingly uses storytelling, based on detailed 
case studies, to give a platform and voice to the people at the 
heart of our work. These case studies, photographs and videos 
connect recipients with donors directly, showing the UK public  
how their money is helping.

As well as regular updates throughout the year across our 
social media channels, website and supporter emails on how  
DEC funds are being spent, we also delivered three key reporting 
back campaigns, marking one year on from the Pakistan floods, 
the first anniversary of the Turkey-Syria earthquakes, and two  
years on from the escalation of conflict in Ukraine. A wide  
range of communications and marketing activities were used, 
including press releases, short films and videos, reports, 
photography exhibitions, celebrity and media trips, adverts,  
social media updates and emails to supporters, key donors  
and partners. 

Pakistan Floods Appeal
In June 2023, marking one year on from the monsoon rains that 
triggered the worst floods in Pakistan’s history, his Majesty the 
King met members of DEC charities and DEC Chief Executive 
Saleh Saeed to hear about the impact of UK donations for those 
affected by the disaster. A report was released on the DEC website 
detailing how donations have helped hundreds of thousands of 
people recover and rebuild. 

The DEC also made a video of a mobile health clinic truck that 
has been uniquely decorated by a local Pakistani truck artist to 
tell the stories of flood survivors supported by the appeal. The 
truck, funded by DEC member CAFOD, was still providing mobile 
healthcare in villages that were submerged last year. Case studies 
and videos of members of the communities supported by the 
projects – covering shelter, clean water, food and healthcare – 
were also posted to social media.

Reporting back to our donors, partners and sponsors on the work that has been done 
thanks to their support is a key part of building people’s trust in the effectiveness of 
humanitarian aid and of deepening their support for emergency appeals. 

| Goal 4 | Annual Report | 2322 | Annual Report  | Goal 4 | 

GOAL 4: PRESERVE AND STRENGTHEN THE  
PUBLIC’S WILLINGNESS TO DONATE TO  
HUMANITARIAN CRISES OVERSEAS

A private webinar was held for high value donors, corporates, 
trusts and foundations to report back on the appeal. The panel 
included speakers from our member charities and the truck 
artist Ali Salman Anchan, who was able to talk about the project.

Meanwhile, communications activities were developed to report 
back specifically to the cricket community, which had generously 
supported the appeal in 2022. The England and Wales Cricket 
Board published a blog by our Chief Executive on their website, 
following his trip to Pakistan to visit DEC-funded projects. Saleh 
Saeed was also interviewed on BBC Test Match Special and 
a photography exhibition was held at Emirates Old Trafford in 
Manchester. 

Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal
Launched in February 2024 ahead of the first anniversary of the 
disaster, the Turkey-Syria reporting back campaign used a wide 
range of communications and marketing activities to inform 
the public that £158.5 million had been raised and how their 
donations were being used. The campaign focused on three 
key areas: helping survivors survive, supporting health and 
wellbeing, and rebuilding lives and livelihoods. 

Highlights included The Locker, a short film inspired by a real 
life maternity nurse working in a DEC-funded camp hospital in 
Syria, and the film gained an estimated 15.7 million impressions 
across TV, cinema and social media. The BBC dedicated a 
lengthy slot on The One Show to the Turkey-Syria Appeal, as part 
of their own commitments to report back to their viewers. This 
included a film about the DEC and our recent appeals, featuring 
interviews with Saleh Saeed and Madara Hettiarachchi, the 
DEC’s Director of Programmes and Accountability. Actor and 
long-time DEC and British Red Cross celebrity supporter, 
Amanda Redman, visited Turkey to see how DEC funds are 
supporting families who survived the disaster. On her return 
she spoke about her experiences on the BBC’s The One Show 
and ITV’s Good Morning Britain, and wrote a first person feature 
for The Express. Meanwhile, Molly Blackall, The i Paper Global 
Affairs Correspondent, wrote three features based on a trip to 
Gaziantep in Turkey to visit DEC-funded projects. A programme 
update report was published on the DEC website, featuring case 
studies and interviews which were also used as social media 
posts, and all DEC supporters were emailed with updates.

Campaign messaging reached a broadcast audience of more 
than 39 million. There were over 2.9 million views of DEC films 
on social media, around 50 case studies were collected from 
people in Turkey and Syria, and more than 35 DEC films  
were produced. 

There were more than 305,000 visits to the DEC website  
during the Turkey-Syria, reporting back campaign (1-18 February 
2024), with 275,000 visits to the reporting back page.

As patients receive mobile healthcare services in Sindh, children observe Pakistani truck art on a mobile clinic commissioned by the DEC and painted by local artists from the Phool 
Patti initiative, featuring stories of flood survivors.
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Right: scene from the short film ‘The Locker’ commissioned by the DEC to mark 
one year since the earthquakes. 
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Actor Amanda Redman visits DEC-funded projects in southern Turkey, which are continuing 
to help people recover nearly a year on from the devastating earthquakes.
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IMPROVING HUMANITARIAN 
PROGRAMME DELIVERY  
THROUGH RESEARCH
 The DEC’s research and learning agenda identifies key subject areas to investigate, 
as well as regularly conducting reviews and evaluations of our work to identify trends, 
best practices and areas for improvement. Among the most pressing current challenges 
and opportunities are: the environment and climate change, accountability to affected 
populations, localisation (shifting power and influence to local humanitarian actors), 
safeguarding individuals and local communities, and the use of direct cash transfers, 
which has become an integral part of our appeals.
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Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal
Building on last year’s ambitious 2023 ‘Ukraine: one year on’ 
campaign, the second anniversary reporting back campaign 
focused on two key messages: that £430.7 million had been 
raised by the appeal, and that these funds enabled our 
member charities and their partners to support 6.9 million 
people, a statistic generated via a new methodology used by 
the DEC programmes and accountability team. A DEC press 
release highlighting this was reported on by the MailOnline, 
The Mirror, The Independent and The Evening Standard. In total 
we received 223 UK media mentions, including on ITV’s Good 
Morning Britain. A Press Association article based on the press 

release was republished by more than 150 local newspapers, 
while eight international newspapers published a full-page 
graphic showing key figures from the release. A short thank-
you video was made for social media and case studies were 
published on social media.

The appeal pages on the DEC website were updated with 
new information on the response, with a timeline of events. 
Between 19-26 February 2024 the website received over 
24,000 page-views, of which around 5,700 were on the main  
Ukraine pages.

Children from Ukraine take part in nature learning activities at a safe space in Warsaw, Poland. DEC funds help the centre provide psychological support, legal advice, 
mentoring, education, language skills and other assistance to refugees.
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Core Humanitarian Standard
Over the past year the DEC Secretariat and members have been 
closely involved with the revision of the Core Humanitarian 
Standard (CHS), which sets out globally recognised commitments 
to ensure that organisations support people and communities 
affected by crisis in ways that respect their rights and dignity.  
The new CHS was launched in March 2024, and the DEC will  
be integrating the revised standard into its work over the next  
financial year.

In late 2023 the DEC commissioned a study to look 
at partnerships across its membership, as we believe 
one of the best ways to empower local humanitarian 
groups is by strengthening their partnerships with local 
and national organisations. The aim of the research, 
which focused on learnings from three active DEC 
appeals across Afghanistan, Pakistan, Turkey and Syria, 
was to better understand what is needed to support 
quality and equitable partnerships in order to reinforce 
their role in crisis response. The DEC Secretariat and 
members will use the findings to establish a shared 
vision and plan for achieving this goal.

Case study

In the last financial year the DEC has carried out a range of 
learning activities, built into its appeals, including community 
perception surveys in Afghanistan, Pakistan, Turkey and 
Syria, a learning review in Afghanistan, a study mapping cash 
responses and what people did with the money they received 
as part of the Ukraine regional response, and research in 
partnership with the London School of Economics looking at 
climate adaptation in DEC programming in Pakistan and the 
wider humanitarian sector. The DEC also commissioned a 
learning review of the last strategy period (2019-2024) and 
the six appeals that were launched during this time, helping to 
identify areas of progress and ongoing challenges which can 
be carried forward into the next strategic period.

These activities support our work on increasing the impact 
of the funds we raised under Goal 3 of our strategy. Further 
details on this strategic goal can be found on page 12.

Kamel* 48, was supported by the water programme from a DEC charity. Here he is 
helping aid workers in Aleppo.
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Farmers in Sindh, Pakistan, are supported through a ‘cash-for-work’ programme by a DEC member charity to dig a water channel that will help them irrigate the 
land in a more efficient way following the devastating floods that ruined livelihoods in the region.

NEW STRATEGY 2024-2029 

The new strategy underpins our mission to raise funds to save, protect and rebuild the lives of people impacted by major disasters 
in countries without the ability to respond at scale. At its heart is a vision of the world where the impact of disasters is minimised by 
working together through effective humanitarian response and growing resilience. 

The incredible scale of appeals in the previous five-year strategy — raising £763 million across five appeals — unequivocally proves 
we are stronger together than the collective sum of our parts.

This year the DEC developed a new five-year strategy as our previous five-year strategy 
came to an end. The new strategy will help us continue to deliver on our mission as we 
face changes and challenges in the years ahead. The emergencies we respond to are 
ever more complex, impacted by geopolitics and climate change. Technology is advancing, 
media consumption is shifting and new audience needs are emerging. Our new strategy 
ensures we remain a thriving, sustainable organisation able to launch the right appeals at 
the right time, and build trust with our audiences. 
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•	 Maximise appeal income:  
We will maximise appropriate opportunities 
to raise money during appeals.

•	 Grow our partnerships: 
We will develop our relationships with key 
partners that provide us both reach and 
money to generate the greatest income 
during appeals.

•	 Optimise digital and social channels:  
We will invest in our use of digital and social 
channels to reach more people, providing 
them with ways to donate easily and quickly 
during appeals.

•	 Prioritise data and targeted technology: 
We will focus time, energy and resource 
on our fundraising data management 
and adopting targeted technological 
advancements to improve and drive our 
fundraising efforts.

FOUR STRATEGIC PILLARS
Working with and through our member charities and the Rapid Response Network we will prioritise our 
activities under the following strategic pillars

•	 Mobilise a ‘whole appeal’ approach to 
marketing and communications activities: 
We will formalise a ‘whole appeal’ approach 
to optimise every meaningful opportunity to 
engage our audiences.

•	 Reimagine our supporter experience: 
We will improve our supporter experience to 
increase the likelihood of future donations and 
long term donor value. 

•	 Invest in our existing and future audiences:  
We will improve our engagement with current 
DEC supporters and put in place the building 
blocks to engage our audiences of the future.

•	 Drive timely, impactful, and authentic 
content:  
We will work even more closely with member 
charities and local communities to capture and 
produce engaging content to drive meaningful 
engagement across multiple channels.

•	 Harness our collective impact:  
We will channel the impact of DEC and 
member charities so that our humanitarian 
response is greater than the sum of its parts.

•	 Influence the sector:  
We will drive change through our unique 
position in the humanitarian sector, 
showcasing our work on flexible funding, and 
adaptative and innovative programming.

•	 Explore and strengthen our climate change 
and protracted crisis response: 
We will explore the most effective ways for 
DEC to drive impact, awareness and funds for 
these humanitarian emergencies.

•	 Support a shift of power:  
We will ensure DEC programmes support 
shifting the power, through amplifying 
locally led responses and local voices, safe 
programming, environmental protection 
and climate adaptation in our programmes, 
approaches and communications.

•	 Support our people:  
We will be a sector leading employer of choice, 
protecting our strong organisational culture, 
investing in our teams’ development, and 
supporting them to thrive.

•	 Embed Environmental, Social and Governance 
(ESG) commitments:  
We will define and act upon our cross-cutting 
organisational commitment to ESG, embedding 
improved practices.

•	 Evolve our financial and risk strategy:  
We will evolve our current approach to 
organisational financing and risk, creating a 
more sustainable organisation better able to 
withstand future unpredictability and meet 
regulatory and compliance requirements.

•	 Invest in our systems and processes:  
We will review and improve our systems, 
infrastructure and processes to ensure they  
are secure, robust, efficient and used  
effectively.

1 2

3 4

BE READY TO LAUNCH THE RIGHT 
APPEALS AT THE RIGHT TIME

BUILD TRUST AMONG OUR 
AUDIENCES AND PARTNERS

DRIVE CHANGE IN THE HUMANITARIAN 
SECTOR AND INCREASE IMPACT

BE A SUSTAINABLE AND THRIVING 
ORGANISATION
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DEC Pakistan  
Floods Appeal

71% Gift Aid 

17% Cash investment income

10% Member agency contributions

1%   Unrestricted trust donations

1%   Legacies

DEC UNRESTRICTED INCOME

81% Allocated to members*

6%   Collective initiatives allocated to members

8%   Cost of raising funds

3%   Support costs and governance

2%   Lesson learning and accountability 

DEC EXPENDITURE

2023/24

2023/24

DEC Turkey-Syria  
Earthquake Appeal

DEC Ukraine  
Humanitarian Appeal 

£14m

£12m

£10m

£8m

£6m

£4m

£2m

£0

DEC APPEAL INCOME
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The DEC has been operating since 1963, 
and was registered as an independent 
charity on 4 June 1997. It is incorporated as 
a company limited by guarantee: we have no 
share capital, and the guarantee is limited 
to £1 for each of our 15 members. Our 
governing document is the Memorandum 
and Articles of Association of the company.

The DEC Secretariat has a core staff of 36 
people (as at 31 March 2024) who run DEC 
appeals and oversee the use of DEC funds. 
The DEC plays a large role in fundraising and 
communications, but also in oversight and 
accountability, relating to how money raised 
is spent, and in promoting standards of good 
practice among members.

Financial review
The financial summary for the year 
2023/24 reflects a year when the DEC did 
not launch an appeal, but continued to 
receive donations and released funds to our 
members against existing appeals. Overall, 
the DEC enters into a new strategic period 
in a robust financial position to invest in 
the strategy and deliver against its overall 
strategic aims.

Total income received directly by the 
DEC including Gift Aid and bank interest 
for the year amounted to £32.9 million 
(2023: £215.7 million). Of this, the DEC 
Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal (launched 
February 2023) raised £12.5 million, the 
DEC Pakistan Floods Appeal (launched 
September 2022) raised £1.4 million and 
the DEC Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal 
(launched March 2022) raised £8.0 million. 
All values include Gift Aid. In addition,  
DEC received donations and legacies of  
£2.3 million (2023: £2.7 million).

Total expenditure for the year amounted 
to £53.7 million (2023: £262.4 million), 
including £47.3 million (2023: £251.2 
million) of appeal funds committed  
to DEC members for use towards 
humanitarian programmes and for  
collective initiative projects, £5.0 million 
(2023: £10.5 million) in costs of raising 
funds, and £1.4 million (2023: £0.6  
million) of other costs. The DEC’s core 

costs are covered by contributions from our 
members and a share of appeal Gift Aid, 
with appeal-specific costs charged to the 
related appeal.

Cost recovery against our appeals is limited 
to no more than fifty per cent of the Gift Aid 
received on each appeal. We also ensure 
that total DEC costs, both direct fundraising 
and indirect overhead recovery, totals no 
more than twenty per cent of DEC income  
raised. Historically we have achieved 
maintaining DEC costs at around ten per  
cent of DEC appeal income, and for the  
DEC Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal, at the 
time of publication, the DEC costs make  
up approximately six per cent of total DEC 
appeal income.

Reserves review
Reserves at year end were reduced, with 
restricted funds being transferred across 
to members, and unrestricted funds 
being designated against the strategy and 
fundraising initiatives. Unrestricted funds 
of £18.0 million (2023: £20.6 million) have 
been broken down further into the following 
four categories:

1. Operational reserve – £5.0 million (2023: 
£4.0 million)

The trustees have set a target of free 
reserves (reserve policy), which are those 
general funds that are freely available  
to spend on any of the charity’s purposes 
and exclude restricted and designated funds 
and fixed assets held for the charity’s own 
use. The target range of free reserves (net  
of designated and general funds) has been  
set at twelve months’(+/- three months) core 
overhead costs, which is currently budgeted 
at £4.3 million for 2024/25. This target 
considers working capital requirements  
and the need to fund operations in  
between appeals. 

The Board considers that holding a twelve 
month reserve is appropriate to allow  
the charity to manage a period without 
appeal activity, based on a review of the 
frequency of appeals in the past. The  
Board has agreed that the DEC should  
fund raise directly towards its running  
costs (core fundraising) reducing reliance 
charges on appeal income and so the  
level of operational reserve may reduce. 

The Board will keep the reserve policy under 
regular review.

Aid worker Orwa (right) assess the damage to Modar’s* (left) home in Syria, before providing earthquake-affected 
families with cash support through the local partner of a DEC member charity.

STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT 
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2. Strategic investment fund – £10.0 million (2023: £nil)

The trustees have decided to designate £10 million to fund the 
implementation of the DEC’s new five-year strategy, running 
from 2024-2029. This fund, over the five years, will provide the 
funding to invest in the DEC so it can deliver against its strategic 
objectives, as shown on page 27. The size of the fund has been 
calculated based on the underlying strategic projects that will 
be delivered over five years under the overall strategy. Initial 
assessment of budgetary requirements against each project  
has been made, and spend against this fund will be monitored  
by the Board on a regular basis. 

3. Fundraising mitigation fund – £3.0 million (2023 £nil)

These funds have been set aside to mitigate the risk that over 
the five years the new core fundraising activity fails to deliver. 
Total income included in our five-year financial forecast against 
this activity is £4.5 million. As there is no track record of the 
DEC raising funding directly for its costs, there is considerable 
uncertainty as to how successful this new activity will be.

4. General fund – £nil (2023: £15.6 million)

This represents surplus unrestricted reserves which will be 
allocated during the strategic period, either to manage short term 
shortfalls in funding, or will be applied to future appeals. Trustees 
will review this fund periodically, and any surplus funds will be 
returned to open appeals.

At 31 March 2024, all funds had been designated (as detailed 
above) or allocated to restricted appeal funds, and therefore the 
balance on general funds is £nil.

Through the strategic period 2024-29, the trustees expect 
reserves to fall back towards the reserves policy level. Any 
reserves the Board deem to be in excess of need will be 
transferred to live appeals or the DEC Emergency Fund.

Governance review
The Board has adopted the Charity Governance Code, and 
engages independent consultants to carry out a tri-annual  
review of performance against the code. The Charity Governance 
Code was updated in 2020 to strengthen the existing diversity  
and integrity principles to reflect evolving best practice.  
The last DEC review was carried out by Compass Partnership 
in 2023, who commented that: “We heard much praise for 
the generally high standard of governance supported by many 
examples of topics where the Board had added high value.” 
Recommendations arising from the review were discussed  
by the Board, with an action plan agreed to help the Board 
become more strategically agile. Recommendations from the 
review included specific improvements to trustee induction 
process and role descriptions, and arranging Board meeting 
agendas to spend more time on strategic topics. Progress  
will be reported to the Board periodically.

*Member charities may use up to 7% of these funds in the UK to 
support their response.
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Fundraising governance
The DEC undertakes active fundraising only 
in the context of DEC appeals, closing at 
least six months ahead of the end of appeal 
programming to allow time for all donations 
to be included in planned programming.

Following the decision to launch an appeal for 
a crisis, we engage energetically with  
the public and our supporters to draw 
attention to the humanitarian need and  
raise money, using a wide range of 
fundraising approaches, to maximise 
donations to the appeal.

This includes broadcast, print and online 
advertising, direct marketing activities, 
engaging with local community and 
faith groups, and working with partners, 
businesses, trusts and foundations and 
philanthropists. Our fundraising activity  
is carried out by our core staff team, and  
the DEC does not employ professional 
telephone or street fundraisers or  
commercial participants.

The DEC complies with all relevant statutory 
regulations, including the Charities Act 2011, 
the Data Protection Act 2018 and the Privacy 
and Electronic Communications Regulations 
2003. We always seek to act in ways that 
are legal, open, honest, and respectful 
– striving for best practice in fundraising 
by complying with a range of codes of 
practice, including being registered with the 
Fundraising Regulator, and adhering to its 
Code of Fundraising Practice and Fundraising 
Promise. We have a donations acceptance 
policy, which was freshly reviewed within 
the year by the Board of Trustees, that 
assesses ethical and reputational concerns, 
particularly for contributions from the 
private sector. We are careful to monitor our 
fundraising activities and provide supporters 
with help and information via our website,   
as well as via email, phone and post.

The DEC is committed to fundraising in an 
honest and responsible way. We take care  
to ensure we act appropriately with people 
who may be in vulnerable circumstances.  
The DEC’s Vulnerable Persons Policy outlines 
how we seek to protect supporters who may 
be in vulnerable circumstances, detailing how 
we can identify potential vulnerability and 
what action we will take.

 

We have a complaints policy available on 
our website and we record and respond to 
complaints received.

In the 2023-24 financial year, the DEC 
received 3,673 email queries from the public, 
including 65 complaints, which are reported 
to the Executive Team and trustees. This is 
a reduction from the previous year due to 
launching no new appeals. Feedback shows 
that 88.7 per cent of those who contacted  
us were satisfied with our response and 
follow-up.

Board of Trustees
The Board of Trustees are directors of 
the company and, as shown on page 
58, comprise six independent trustees 
(including the Chair of Trustees, Vice 
Chair and Honorary Treasurer) alongside 
the chief executives of each of the DEC’s 
member charities. Trustees have no financial 
beneficial interest in the charity but do 
have voting rights. Trustees receive no 
remuneration or any other emoluments  
from the DEC. Biographies of trustees are 
shown on the DEC’s website.

The Board meets three times each year as 
well as on an ad hoc basis to discuss  
urgent matters relating to DEC appeals. 
During 2023/24 the Board held a number 
of additional meetings focussed on the 
development of the new 2024 - 2029 
strategy. The Board has established 
committees – Membership and 
Accountability (MAC); Audit, Finance and 
Risk (AFR); Remuneration (RemCom); and 
Donations Acceptance (DAC) – that operate 
under agreed terms of reference and report 
back to the full Board. 

These committees are chaired by 
independent trustees and also include 
member trustees, as shown on page 58.

Independent trustees, including the Chair  
and Honorary Treasurer, hold office for a  
term of three years. They may then be 
reappointed for a second term, with provision 
to extend this second term by up to 12 
months, and then retire from office. Member 
trustees hold office for a term that is related 
to their roles as chief executive of a DEC 
member charity.
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The appointment of new independent 
trustees is overseen by the Board with 
support from the Membership and 
Accountability Committee, following an 
analysis of skills, targeted advertising,  
and an interview process, with diversity 
and inclusion being taken into account 
throughout the process. The Chair is 
nominated by the independent trustees  
and appointed by majority agreement  
of the member trustees.

Sue Inglish is due to end her second and  
final term as Chair of Trustees in March  
2025. An open recruitment process is  
being held during 2024 to identify the  
next Chair of Trustees.

Trustee induction and conduct

Trustees sign a Declaration of Interests, 
Conflicts, Related Party Transactions 
and continuing compliance with the Fit 
and Proper Test form that is reviewed 
annually. New trustees are given a detailed 
induction by the Chair of Trustees, the 
DEC’s Chief Executive and senior staff. 
A trustee handbook is also provided to 
new trustees, including relevant policies, 
procedures, governance information and 
role descriptions. This is revisited after  
one year to support each trustee’s  
ongoing learning and development with  
the DEC. 

Remuneration

The Remuneration Committee is responsible 
for reviewing DEC Secretariat remuneration 
policy and practice on an annual basis  
for recommendation to the full Board.  
The Committee specifically sets the 
remuneration of the Chief Executive  
and salary ranges for the Executive Team. 
The DEC’s reward policy provides for an 
annual cost of living increase with reference 
to inflation and sector standards, with a pay 
benchmarking exercise carried out every 
three years to ensure that remuneration 
levels remain competitive in line with 
averages for the wider charity sector.

35 year old, Sughra, received cash assistance from a member charity and its implementing partners to start a shop in her village and earn a sustainable income. She is the sole 
breadwinner for her family of 7.
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16 (out of 21 trustees)

5 (out of 21 trustees)

7 (out of 10 trustees)

2 (out of 10 trustees)

1 (out of 10 trustees)

5 (out of 7 trustees)

2 (out of 7 trustees)

5 (out of 5 trustees) 

4 (out of 7 trustees)

3 (out of 7 trustees)

100%

50-75%

100%

66%

0–33% 

100% 

0–33%

100% 

 
100% 

66%
 
   

 
Board of Trustees  
Committee

Membership and  
Accountability  
Committee

 
Audit, Finance and Risk  
Committee

Remuneration Committee  
Committee

Donations Acceptance  
Committee

 
   

% attendance No of trustees attending

MEETING ATTENDANCETRY
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Going concern
The Trustees consider that there are  
no material uncertainties about the 
charitable company’s ability to continue  
as a going concern.

In making this judgement, the trustees 
considered current financial performance, 
free reserve levels, future cash flow  
forecasts (one year from account signing 
date) and the 2024/25 budget.

Investment policy
Under its memorandum and articles  
of association, the charity has the power 
to make investments. The DEC needs to  
be in a position to enable its members  
to act very quickly in emergencies and 
therefore has a policy to balance keeping  
a proportion of funds in instant access  
and short-term deposits that can be 
accessed readily with considerations  
of high security and investment return.

Stakeholder engagement 

The trustees, who are Directors for the 
purposes of the Companies Act, confirm 
that in accordance with Section 172 (1) of 
the Companies Act they act in a way they 
consider most likely to achieve the purposes 

of the Company. In making this assessment, 
the trustees consider the relevant actions 
of the Board, and engagement with all 
stakeholders is described throughout the 
annual review. Taking the areas required  
for disclosure in turn:

• The likely consequences of any decision  
in the long term 

Organisational decisions are made by  
the trustees with reference to the  
charity’s five-year strategic plan, which is 
summarised on page 26 of this report. 
This strategic plan was developed with key 
stakeholders of the DEC, including member 
charities, broadcasters, and DEC staff.

Risk management processes are set out 
on page 32 of this report, and the charity’s 
reserve policy is also detailed on page 29.

The Board includes representatives of  
each of the 15 DEC member charities,  
who ensure that decisions made are in  
the best interests of the DEC in the  
long term.

• Engagement with recipients

The DEC Board has made external 
verification/certification against the Core 
Humanitarian Standard (CHS) on Quality and 
Accountability a membership requirement. 
All DEC members have been independently 

verified or independently certified. As part 
of this process, members are required 
to ensure that communities and people 
affected by crises receive assistance 
appropriate and relevant to their needs.  
In order to achieve this, members are 
required to engage appropriately with 
recipients. Members communicate, 
consult and provide for the participation 
of interested and affected stakeholders, 
ensuring that their concerns, desires, 
expectations, needs, rights and 
opportunities are considered in the 
establishment, implementation and review 
of the programmes assisting them.

• The interests of the company’s  
employees

The DEC had a staff of 36 employees as  
of 31 March 2024 (2023: 37 employees). 
The oversight of remuneration is undertaken 
by the Remuneration Committee, a sub-
committee of the Board of Trustees. The 
charity has employed an HR Manager to 
provide in-house HR support for the team. 
Additional staff benefits include discounts 
for health, wellbeing, personal and financial 
essentials. We advocate being a flexible  
and inclusive employer and (currently) 
expect staff to be in the office two days  
per month.

Risk management

The DEC has a robust framework for 
identifying, reporting and managing  
risks and is accountable for the effective  
use of the charitable funds raised in its 
name. The DEC is not operational in  
aid delivery, and therefore delegates  
the management of risks associated  
with delivering humanitarian programmes  
to its member charities while maintaining 

oversight through an assurance system 
that includes independent reviews and 
evaluations, regular member reporting  
and external verification against  
the Core Humanitarian Standard.

The DEC has adopted an approach that 
assesses the charity’s risk appetite in  
specific areas and maintains a risk register

which is regularly reviewed in relation  
to those risks associated with our 
responsibilities for fundraising, stewardship 
and oversight, including what controls and 
safeguards operate to manage or mitigate 
against key financial risks. The DEC holds 
reserves to mitigate against key risks  
as detailed in the Reserves review on  
page 29. 

Key risks

Risk mitigation

The DEC monitors the onset of crises as they develop, assesses evidence of public interest  
and empathy and obtains feedback from broadcasters and other third parties before making 
an appeal in order to maximise the chance of success.

 
 
The DEC ensures its members have effective processes to manage complex risks, including 
in relation to any partner organisations with which they are working. The DEC also has an 
established framework of accountability and due diligence to ensure member charities  
have in place effective systems, processes and controls. Part of this framework is a  
serious incident reporting protocol to ensure all relevant incidents are promptly reported.
Due to the nature of the work that the DEC funds, there is always the risk of a serious  
incident occurring. The Board has appointed a lead trustee for safeguarding matters and has 
held meetings for DEC member trustee leads to discuss and share safeguarding best practice.

In managing this risk, the DEC works closely with fundraising partners and suppliers.  
The DEC has information security policies in place, carries out regular staff training, has 
ongoing monitoring in this area and regularly updates security measures supported by  
external suppliers. 

The DEC works with members to ensure the highest levels of transparency and to deliver 
accountability to donors, building on its work on accountability to affected populations.  
The DEC invests in raising public trust by reporting back on how appeal funds are spent.  
We require our members to adopt and adhere to the DEC accountability framework  
across all areas of activity.

The DEC continues to invest in development and innovation in fundraising, marketing 
and communications across digital media. The DEC partners and works with major digital 
platforms, including social media and search engines, to engage with digital influencers  
and to work with public broadcasters to increase their digital offering.

The DEC monitors domestic and international trends to ensure that it can adapt and respond 
rapidly to change.

  
 
The DEC monitors and improves all critical systems, ensuring contingencies are in place.  
All key staff have cover plans in place, with deputies for CEO and all directors appointed. 
Regular wellbeing reviews monitor the mental health of staff, particularly during heightened 
activity of an appeal.

Risk

The risk that a DEC appeal is unsuccessful, 
or is seen as such, raising a low level of 
funds. This risk is perhaps greatest in 
relation to humanitarian crises that arise 
from conflict or are slow in their onset.

The risk that programmes funded by the  
DEC and managed by member charities 
fail to deliver the planned benefits to 
disaster-affected communities, whether  
due to poor quality or financial losses, 
including risks of fraud, diversion of funds  
or safeguarding breaches. 

The risk that IT failures or a security breach 
results in unauthorised access to stored 
data and a loss of confidence in the DEC or 
damage to the charity’s reputation.

The risk that strongly negative media or 
publicity, whether direct or indirect, causes 
damage to the DEC’s position with the 
public, donors or other stakeholders.

The risk of losing ground to a new digital 
competitor or to changes in news media 
and public viewing habits towards the DEC’s 
traditional broadcast appeal.

The risk that domestic or international news 
will adversely affect the public’s willingness 
and ability to donate to overseas crises at 
the point of appeal launch.

The risk that the DEC suffers business 
interruption resulting in a failure to deliver 
against its appeal responsibility, due to 
either a failure of infrastructure or a  
staffing disruption.
 

 

Ivanna receives a donation from Saleh Saeed, CEO of the Disasters Emergency Committee, in Odesa, Ukraine.
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The DEC carries out regular staff surveys 
to monitor, amongst other factors, staff 
wellbeing and assess the effectiveness  
of hybrid working.

The charity is engaged in an Equality, 
Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) programme, 
which has included externally facilitated 
workshops with staff, and the development 
of a work plan to further cement EDI 
principles within the DEC, as part of the 
overall HR strategic plan. This work is being 
overseen by the Board and supported by the 
internal HR Manager post.

• The need to foster the company’s 
business relationships with suppliers, 
customers and others

The DEC is keen to maintain a positive 
relationship with its suppliers, ensuring  
all non-disputed invoices are paid within 
agreed payment terms. The relationship  
with our suppliers is key for the DEC, 
as during appeals we often require our 
suppliers to turn around services very 
quickly in order for us to achieve appeal 
deadlines. DEC staff invest time to meet 
suppliers outside of appeal to build 
relationships and seek better ways of 
working. Any supplier complaints are notified 
to the Director of Finance and Resources. 
The DEC’s relationship with its supporters  
is outlined on page 30 of this report.

• The impact of the company’s operations 
on the community and environment

The DEC has offices by Regents Canal, 
London, between Angel and Old Street. 
We are looking at ways we can engage 
positively with the local community. With 
regards to our impact on the environment, 
we are looking at ways in which we can 
move to be carbon zero in the coming years. 
We expect to make a limited number of 
visits to countries where DEC members are 
responding as part of an appeal over the 
coming year. We generally cooperate with 
international colleagues and partners via 
virtual meetings as opposed to international 
travel, but acknowledge the value of field 
visits in relation to both checking on the 
work being funded by the DEC and the 
reporting back of progress to donors.  
We have engaged local content gathering 
visits (journalists, photographers) in order 
to both gain access to remote areas, and to 
minimise cost and impact of travel. All our 

furniture, fittings, equipment, and carpet 
tiles in our office have been transferred from 
our previous office, thereby reducing waste 
and cost. We have recycling bins in our 
office, auto-sensors on lights and centrally 
controlled air-cooling systems.

As the DEC is deemed a large company 
under the Companies Act criteria, it 
therefore falls under the reporting 
requirements of the Streamlined Energy 
and Carbon Reporting (SECR) legislation. 
However, as the DEC did not consume more 
than 40,000 kWh of energy during the 
financial year, it qualifies as a low energy 
user and is exempt from reporting under 
these regulations.

DEC members are asked at each reporting 
milestone what measures they are taking  
to reduce the environmental impact of  
their work and strengthen affected 
communities’ resilience to climate change. 
Over the course of the new strategic  
period, the DEC will include the Climate 
and Environment Charter as a membership 
requirement. This will involve member 
charities being periodically assessed  
against the charters’ commitments.

• The desirability of the company 
maintaining a reputation for high standards 
of business conduct

The DEC has a policy structure to ensure 
the management of regulatory and legal 
risk and is committed to complying with all 
applicable laws and regulations relating to 
fraud, bribery, and corruption.

• The need to act fairly between members  
of the company

The trustees understand the Charity 
Commission requirements and understand 
the need to avoid and manage potential 
conflicts of interest.

Statement of Trustees’ 
responsibilities
The trustees (who are also the directors of 
the DEC for the purposes of company law) 
are responsible for preparing the trustees’ 
report, including the strategic report and  
the financial statements in accordance  
with applicable law and UK Accounting 
Standards (UK Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice).

Company law requires the trustees to 
prepare financial statements for each 
financial year which give a true and fair  
view of the state of affairs of the  
charitable company and of its incoming 
resources and application of resources, 
including the income and expenditure,  
for that period.

In preparing these financial statements,  
the trustees are required to:

1. �select suitable accounting policies and 
then apply them consistently 

2. �observe the methods and principles in  
the Charities SORP 

3. �make judgements and estimates that  
are reasonable and prudent 

4. �state whether applicable UK Accounting 
Standards and Statements of 
Recommended Practice have been 
followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in  
the financial statements 

5. �prepare the financial statements  
on the going concern basis unless  
it is inappropriate to presume  
that the charity will continue in operation.

The trustees are responsible for ensuring 
that adequate accounting records are kept 
that disclose with reasonable accuracy 
at any time the financial position of the 
charitable company and enable them to 
ensure that the financial statements comply 
with the Companies Act 2006.

They are also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the charitable company  
and hence for taking reasonable steps for 
the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities.

The trustees are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the corporate 
and financial information included on the 
charitable company’s website. Legislation 
in the UK governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements 
may differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions. The strategic report includes 
a review of financial performance and of 
the charity’s reserves position. We have 
adequate financial resources and are 
well placed to manage the business risks. 
Our planning process, including financial 
projections, has taken into consideration 

the current economic climate and its 
potential impact on the various sources 
of income and planned expenditure. We 
have a reasonable expectation that we 
have adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable 
future. We believe that there are no 
material uncertainties that call into doubt 
the charity’s ability to continue. The 
accounts have therefore been prepared 
on the basis that the charity is a going 
concern.

Insofar as each of the trustees of the 
charitable company at the date of the 
approval of this report is aware:

● �there is no relevant audit information 
(information needed by the company’s 
auditor in connection with preparing the 
audit report) of which the company’s 
auditor is unaware

● �each trustee has taken all steps that  
they should have taken as a trustee 
in order to make themselves aware of 
any relevant audit information and to 
establish that the company’s auditor is 
aware of that information.

Meeting and reporting on  
public benefit

The trustees confirm that they have 
complied with the duty in section 4 of the 
Charities Act 2011 to have due regard  
to the Charity Commission’s general 
guidance on public benefit, ‘Charities and 
Public Benefit.’

The structure of the trustees’ annual report 
includes reporting on our strategic aims, 
the DEC’s activities and achievements 
during the year and our plans going 
forward.

We have highlighted how our work furthers 
our charitable purpose and the significant 
benefits it brings to:

1. �people in developing countries in urgent 
need of emergency relief, regardless 
of race, creed or nationality, through 
the funding provided by DEC appeals 
to 15 of the UK’s leading humanitarian 
charities;

2. �the promotion of the efficiency and 
effectiveness of life-saving assistance 
and the alleviation of poverty;

3. �people in developing countries affected 
by an emergency situation being involved 
in the relief effort and being treated  
with dignity.

This trustees’ report, including the strategic 
report, was approved by the Board of 
Trustees on 14 August 2024 and signed on 
its behalf by

 

Sue Inglish                
Chair 
 

 
Melanie Hind  
Honorary Treasurer

Pupils take part in lessons at one of the schools rehabilitated by a DEC member charity in Aleppo, Syria, after the earthquakes.
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To the members of the Disasters Emergency Committee
OPINION
We have audited the financial statements 
of the Disasters Emergency Committee 
for the year ended 31 March 2024 which 
comprise the Statement of Financial 
Activities, Balance Sheet, Statement of 
Cash Flows and notes to the financial 
statements, including significant accounting 
policies. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation 
is applicable law and United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards, including Financial 
Reporting Standard 102 The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion, the financial statements:

• �give a true and fair view of the state of 
the charitable company’s affairs as at 
31 March 2024 and of the incoming 
resources and application of resources, 
including its income and expenditure for 
the year then ended;

• �have been properly prepared in 
accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; 
and

• �have been prepared in accordance  
with the requirements of the Companies 
Act 2006

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing 
(UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the charitable company in 
accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in the UK, including 
the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we  
have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient  
and appropriate to provide a basis for  
our opinion.

CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO 
GOING CONCERN
In auditing the financial statements, we 
have concluded that the trustee’s use of 
the going concern basis of accounting in 
the preparation of the financial statements 
is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, 
we have not identified any material 
uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that, individually or collectively, 
may cast significant doubt on the charitable 
company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern for a period of at least twelve 
months from when the financial statements 
are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities 
of the trustees with respect to going 
concern are described in the relevant 
sections of this report.

OTHER INFORMATION
The trustees are responsible for the other 
information contained within the annual 
report. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, 
other than the financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on 
the financial statements does not cover the 
other information and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, 
we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
If we identify such material inconsistencies 
or apparent material misstatements, we are 
required to determine whether this gives rise 
to a material misstatement in the financial 
statements themselves. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report  
that fact. 
We have nothing to report in this regard.

OPINION ON OTHER MATTERS 
PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES 
ACT 2006
In our opinion, based on the work 
undertaken in the course of the audit:

• �the information given in the trustees’ 
report, which includes the directors’ report 
and the strategic report prepared for the 
purposes of company law, for the financial 
year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements; and

• �the strategic report and the directors’ 
report included within the trustees’ report 
have been prepared in accordance with 
applicable legal requirements.

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE 
REQUIRED TO REPORT BY 
EXCEPTION 
In light of the knowledge and understanding 
of the charitable company and their 
environment obtained in the course of 
the audit, we have not identified material 
misstatements in the strategic report or 
the directors’ report included within the 
trustees’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the 
following matters in relation to which the 
Companies Act 2006 requires us to report  
to you if, in our opinion:

• �the parent company has not kept 
adequate accounting records; or

• �the parent company financial statements 
are not in agreement with the accounting 
records and returns; or

• �certain disclosures of trustees’ 
remuneration specified by law are not 
made; or

• �we have not received all the information 
and explanations we require for  
our audit.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF TRUSTEES
As explained more fully in the trustees’ 
responsibilities statement set out on page 
34, the trustees (who are also the directors 
of the charitable company for the purposes 
of company law) are responsible for the

preparation of the financial statements and 
for being satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view, and for such internal control as the 
trustees determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the 
trustees are responsible for assessing the 
charitable company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the trustees either intend to liquidate the 
charitable company or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in  
the aggregate, they could reasonably  
be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of  
these financial statements. 

Details of the extent to which the audit was 
considered capable of detecting irregularities, 
including fraud and non-compliance with laws 
and regulations are set out below. 

A further description of our responsibilities  
for the audit of the financial statements 
is located on the Financial Reporting 
Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description  
forms part of our auditor’s report.

EXTENT TO WHICH THE AUDIT 
WAS CONSIDERED CAPABLE OF 
DETECTING IRREGULARITIES, 
INCLUDING FRAUD
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances  
of non-compliance with laws and regulations. 
We identified and assessed the risks of  

material misstatement of the financial 
statements from irregularities, whether due  
to fraud or error, and discussed these between 
our audit team members. We then designed 
and performed audit procedures responsive  
to those risks, including obtaining audit 
evidence sufficient and appropriate to provide  
a basis for our opinion. 

We obtained an understanding of the legal 
and regulatory frameworks within which the 
charitable company operates, focusing on those 
laws and regulations that have a direct effect 
on the determination of material amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The 
laws and regulations we considered in this 
context were: 

• Charities Act 2011
• Companies Act 2006

We assessed the required compliance with 
these laws and regulations as part of our  
audit procedures on the related financial 
statement items. 

In addition, we considered provisions of 
other laws and regulations that do not have a 
direct effect on the financial statements but 
compliance with which might be necessary to 
the charitable company’s ability to operate or 
to avoid a material penalty. We also considered 
the opportunities and incentives that may exist 
within the charitable company for fraud. The 
laws and regulations we considered in this 
context for the UK operations were: 

• Charity Commission regulations

• General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 

• Anti-fraud, bribery and corruption legislation 

• Environmental protection legislation 

• Health and safety legislation 

• Employment legislation

Auditing standards limit the required audit 
procedures to identify non-compliance with 
these laws and regulations to enquiry of the 
Trustees and other management and inspection 
of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any. 

We identified the greatest risk of material 
impact on the financial statements from 
irregularities, including fraud, to be within the 
timing of recognition of income and override of 
controls by management. Our audit procedures 
to respond to these risks included enquiries of 
management, and the Audit & Risk Committee 
about their own identification and assessment 
of the risks of irregularities, sample testing on 

the posting of journals, reviewing accounting 
estimates for biases, reviewing regulatory 
correspondence with the Charity Commission 
and reading minutes of meetings of those 
charged with governance.

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, 
there is an unavoidable risk that we may not 
have detected some material misstatements in 
the financial statements, even though we have 
properly planned and performed our  
audit in accordance with auditing standards. 
For example, the further removed non-
compliance with laws and regulations 
(irregularities) is from the events and 
transactions reflected in the financial 
statements, the less likely the inherently 
limited procedures required by auditing 
standards would identify it. In addition, as 
with any audit, there remained a higher risk of 
non-detection of irregularities, as these may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
controls. We are not responsible for preventing 
non-compliance and cannot be expected to 
detect non-compliance with all laws  
and regulations. 

USE OF OUR REPORT
This report is made solely to the charitable 
company’s members, as a body, in  
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of  
the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work  
has been undertaken so that we might  
state to the charitable company’s members 
those matters we are required to state to 
them in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted  
by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the 
charitable company and the charitable 
company’s members as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed.

 

Naziar Hashemi 
Senior Statutory Auditor 
For and on behalf of 
Crowe U.K. LLP 
London, UK 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
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Statement of Financial Activities for the year ended 31 March 2024

2,007

4,273

601

1,506

276

-

-

-

-

1,812

-

10,475

2,811

227

32

172

-

-

-

-

894

4,136

6,339

(8,951)

(2,612)

20,612

18,000

Income from:

Donations and legacies

Charitable activities

DEC Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal				  

DEC Pakistan Floods Appeal				  

DEC Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal				  

DEC Afghanistan Crisis Appeal

DEC Emergency Fund				  

DEC Coronavirus Appeal				  

Humanitarian Emergency Fund (Scotland) 				  

Humanitarian Emergency Fund (Wales) 						    

Cash investments			 

Other income						    

Total income

Expenditure on:

Raising funds

Charitable activities

Turkey-Syria earthquake response programmes				  

Pakistan floods response programmes				  

Ukraine humanitarian response programmes				  

Afghanistan response programmes				  

Coronavirus response programmes						    

Humanitarian Emergency Fund (Scotland) 				  

Humanitarian Emergency Fund (Wales) 				  

Lesson learning and accountability 						    

Total expenditure

Net (expenditure)/income for the year

Transfers between funds

Net movement in fund

Reconciliation of funds

Total funds brought forward

Total funds carried forward

 
 

Note

2023 
Total 

£’000

2024 
Total 

£’000

Restricted 
funds 
£’000

Unrestricted 
funds 
£’000

2a

2b

2b

2b

2b

2b

2c

3

4

4

4

4

4

-

3

14

14

14

All of the above results are derived from continuing activities. There were no other recognised gains or losses other than those stated above. 	
	Comparable information for the year ended 31 March 2023 is shown in note 16 to the financial statements.				  
	Movements in funds are disclosed in note 14 to the financial statements.						    
								      
								      
								      

(incorporating an income and expenditure account)

298

8,187

828

6,482

3

120

-

23

22

6,468

-

22,431

2,222

26,121

7,520

11,364

1,883

-

33

22

387

49,552

(27,121)

8,951

(18,170)

39,264

21,094

2,305

12,460

1,429

7,988

279

120

-

23

22

8,280

-

32,906

5,033

26,348

7,552

11,536

1,883

-

33

22

1,281

53,688

(20,782)

-

(20,782)

59,876

39,094

 2,757

98,485

36,341

70,176

4,818

-

11

23

20

3,041

26

215,698

10,499

70,095

28,101

146,645

5,000

1,442

22

20

606

262,430

(46,732)

-

(46,732)

106,608

59,876

 
 

£’000
2024 

£’000
2023 
£’000

 
 

Note

Fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets 		 8		

				  

Current assets

Debtors 		 9	

Cash at bank and in hand 		 10	

			 

Liabilities

Creditors: amounts due within one year 		 11 	

Net current assets 

Total assets less current liabilities

Net assets 		 13

		  			 

Funds

Unrestricted funds		

      Operational reserves		 14		

Designated reserves		 14	

General reserves		 14		

Total unrestricted funds		

Restricted funds		 14 		

Total funds 			 

The cash at bank and in hand balance mostly represents funds raised during appeals, the disbursement of these funds which 
takes place over the period of the programmes in question. More details are disclosed in note 10 to the financial statements, 
and the associated member agency creditors in note 11. 						    
							     
Approved by the trustees on 14 August 2024 and signed on their behalf by					   
							     
			    

Sue Inglish 	 Melanie Hind 
Chair     	 Honorary Treasurer

 
Disasters Emergency Committee  
Company Number 03356526

21,932

107,436

129,368

(90,510)

5,000

13,000

- 

	

236

236

38,858

39,094

39,094

18,000

21,094

39,094

285

285

59,591

59,876

59,876

20,612

39,264

59,876

Balance Sheet at 31 March 2024

28,383

223,897

252,280

(192,689)

4,000

1,000

15,612

 
 

 
 

£’000



Disasters Emergency Committee – Year to 31 March 2024 Disasters Emergency Committee – Year to 31 March 2024

 |  Accounts  | Annual Report | 4140  | Annual Report | Accounts | 

2023 
£’000

2024 
£’000

15

 
 

Note

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2024

Cash flows from operating activities

Net cash provided (used in)/by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest from investments

Purchase of fixed assets

Net sale of current asset investments				  

				  

Net cash provided by investing activities

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year	

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 
	

(124,640)

8,280

(101)

-

8,179

(116,461)

223,897

107,436 
 

56,235

3,041

(137)

-

2,904

59,139

164,758

223,897

 
 

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents and of net debt				  

Cash at bank and in hand	 223,897	 (116,461)	 -	 107,436

Total cash and cash equivalents	 223,897	 (116,461)	 -	 107,436

At 31 March 
2024 

£’000

Cash 
flows 

£’000

At 1 April  
2023 
£’000

Other non-cash  
changes 

£’000

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
a) Basis of accounting 
The financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with Accounting and Reporting 
by Charities: Statement of Recommended 
Practice applicable to charities preparing 
their accounts in accordance with the 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) 
- (Charities SORP FRS 102), the Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) and the 
Companies Act 2006. 

Assets and liabilities are initially recognised 
at historical cost or transaction value unless 
otherwise stated in the relevant accounting 
policy or note.			 

b) Public benefit entity 
The charitable company meets the  
definition of a public benefit entity under  
FRS 102.

c) Going concern 
The trustees consider that there are no 
material uncertainties about the charitable 
company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. In making this judgement, the 
trustees considered current financial 
performance, free reserve levels, future 
cashflow forecasts (one year from account 
signing date) and the 2024/25 budget.

d) Estimates 
The financial statements include the 
following estimates:

1. Gift Aid. At the time of signing, the 
financial statements include Gift Aid 
accrued income of £0.7 million which 
includes an estimate for claims not yet 
processed by the DEC. The basis of the 
estimate is historic recovery on previous 
appeals.

2. Legacy recognition. The DEC’s policy on 
recognition of legacy income is detailed in 
note 1 e).

3. Allocation to members. The DEC’s policy 
on allocating appeal funds to members is 
detailed in note 1 i).

4. Investment income. The DEC’s policy 
on restriction of investment income is to 
follow to restriction of the original donation, 
estimates are included where exact figures 
are not available. 

Other than the areas of estimation detailed 
above, the trustees do not consider that 
there are any other sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the reporting date that have 
a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next reporting period.

e) Income			 
Income is recognised when the charity has 
entitlement to the funds, it is probable that 
the income will be received and that the 
amount can be measured reliably. Income 
includes associated Gift Aid tax reclaims. 

Donations to DEC appeals are included 
as restricted income, used to fund the 
related disaster response programmes.  
Associated Gift Aid tax reclaims are 
included as unrestricted income and then 
transferred to the related restricted fund 
for each DEC appeal. Contributions from 
member charities towards DEC’s appeal 
preparedness is included as donations and 
accounted for when received.

Income from legacies is included when 
received from the estate or when the charity 
is notified by the executor that a distribution 
will be made. DEC policy in financial year 
2023/24 was to allocate 50% of legacy 
income to restricted income used to fund 
disaster response programmes and 50% 
was allocated to unrestricted income,  
unless the will directs otherwise. From 
1st April 2024, DEC policy was updated 
to allocate legacy income to unrestricted 
income, unless the will directs otherwise.

Interest on funds held on cash deposit is 
included when receivable. 		

f) Donations of services	
During the year the DEC has benefited 
from legal, broadcasting, promotion and 
donations processing services received 
free or at discounted rates from various 

providers. Where the value of the services is 
quantifiable the value has been attributed to 
these services in the accounts. 

The majority of services provided are not 
reasonably quantifiable and measurable 
and the cost of identifying them and 
assessing their value to the DEC would 
outweigh the benefit to users of the  
accounts. Therefore these donated services 
have been omitted. 

In accordance with the Charities SORP (FRS 
102), volunteer time is not recognised. 
The trustees’ annual report provides more 
information about their contribution.	

g) Fund accounting		
Restricted funds are used for specific 
purposes as laid down by the donor or  
related to a specific DEC appeal. Expenditure 
which meets these criteria is charged to  
the fund. 	

Unrestricted funds are donations and other 
incoming resources received or generated for 
the charitable purposes. 	

Designated funds are unrestricted funds 
earmarked by the trustees for particular 
purposes. 		

h) Expenditure and irrecoverable 
VAT				  
Expenditure is recognised once there is a 
legal or constructive obligation to make a 
payment to a third party, it is probable that 
settlement will be required and the amount 
of the obligation can be measured reliably. 
Expenditure is classified under the following 
activity headings:			 

Costs of raising funds relate to the costs 
incurred by the charity in encouraging 
individuals and other third parties to make 
voluntary contributions to DEC appeals, 
as well as the cost of any activities with a 
fundraising purpose.	

Expenditure on charitable activities includes 
the funds allocated to DEC member 
charities towards the costs of delivering 
disaster response programmes as set out 
in note i) below. Expenditure is recognised 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

when allocations are confirmed to members 
because it is at this time that a firm 
commitment is made by DEC towards the 
planned programmes of work by members 
in response to each appeal. 	

Irrecoverable VAT is charged as a 
cost against the activity for which the 
expenditure was incurred.			 
				  
i) Basis of allocation to member 
charities			 
Member charities receive a share of the 
appeal income if they opt into that appeal.  
A formula known as the Indicator of 
Capacity (IOC) is used to allocate appeal 
funds among DEC member charities.  
DEC informs the member charities of their 
estimated income from an appeal after 
one week and commits funds towards 
disaster relief programmes two weeks after 
the appeal launch. Further allocations 
are made as income for specific appeals 
is received and as the programme is 
implemented. On Board approval, funds 
may be allocated outside of the IOC  
formula where required. 	

j) Allocation of support costs	  
All expenditure is accounted for on an 
accruals basis and has been classified  
under headings that aggregate all costs 
related to that category. Where costs  
cannot be directly attributed to particular 
headings they have been allocated to 
activities on a basis consistent with  
use of resources. 	

Fundraising expenditure has been shown 
separately. These costs are incurred 
in seeking donations and voluntary 
contributions and do not include the costs  
of disseminating information in support  
of the charitable activities.

Governance costs are the costs associated 
with the governance arrangements of the 
charity which relate to the general running 
of the charity as opposed to those costs 
associated with fundraising or charitable 
activity. Included within this category are 
costs associated with the strategic as 
opposed to day-to-day management of the 
charity’s activities.		

Support costs, which include costs 
associated with general management, 
financial management and accounting, 
information technology, human resources 
and premises, are allocated across the 
categories of charitable expenditure, 
governance costs and the costs of 
generating funds. Support costs and other 
core costs are recharged to the restricted 
fund and will fluctuate annually based on 
appeal activity during the year. The basis of 
the cost allocation has been explained in the 
notes to the accounts. 		

k) Operating leases	  
Rental charges are charged on a straight 
line basis over the term of the lease.	

l) Tangible and intangible assets 
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost  
less accumulated depreciation. Assets,  

or groups of assets purchased within  
a single project, costing £1,000 and above 
are capitalised. Depreciation is provided  
at rates calculated to write down the 
cost of each asset to its estimated  
residual value over its expected useful  
life. The depreciations/amortisation rates  
in use are as follows:	

Leasehold improvements			 
- �five years or term of lease if shorter

Furniture, fittings and office equipment
- �five years

Computer equipment 
- three years

Website development & software	  
- three years

m) Cash at bank and in hand	  
Cash at bank and cash in hand includes  
cash and short term highly liquid investments 
with a short maturity of three months  
or less from the date of acquisition  
or opening of the deposit or similar  
account. Cash deposits with maturities  
above three months are shown as current  
asset investments. 	

n) Pension contributions	  
The charity has a stakeholder pension 
scheme and makes defined contributions 
based on salary. Pension contributions  
are charged to the statement of  
financial activities as incurred and 
attributed to unrestricted and  
restricted funds in line with other 
Secretariat staffing costs.			 
					   

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

2a) Donations and legacies

Unrestricted
£’000

 
Restricted 

£’000

2024 
Total 

£’000

2023 
Total 

£’000
 
 

Member agency contributions

Legacies

Unrestricted trust donations

Donated services

Gift Aid

Regular giving

Total donations and legacies			 
			 

1,000

111

60

35

795

6

2,007

-

263

-

35

-

-

298

1,000

374

60

70

795

6

2,305

1,000

1,755

-

-

-

2

2,757

Gift Aid income relates to income from historical appeals where programmes have ended. This income is retained as unrestricted income to  
fund the running of the charity. 

Unrestricted trust donations are to support the ongoing running costs of the DEC, as driven by the five-year strategy for 2024-2029.
Restricted donations supporting appeals from trusts and foundations are included within Appeal donations (see note 2b. Charitable Activities).

2. INCOME

2b) Charitable activities

2023 
Total 

£’000

2024 
Total 

£’000

Restricted 
appeal  

donations 
£’000 

Unrestricted 
Gift Aid 

 
£’000 

Gift Aid income represents Gift Aid recovered on donations during the year. It is DEC policy to transfer no less than 50% of Gift Aid recovered 
into the respective appeal funds. Details of this transfer can be found in note 14 to the accounts. 

Appeal donations includes donations from the general public, trusts and foundations and corporates.

The DEC is grateful for the support of the UK Government through its UK Aid Match scheme. During the year, the DEC received no matched 
funds due to no appeals launched in the financial period. (2023: DEC received £5.0 million for the DEC Pakistan Floods Appeal and  
£5.0 million for the DEC Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal.)

The DEC Emergency Fund represents donations from trusts and foundations, to support future disasters.  

Further details of fund movements can be found in note 14 to the accounts. 						    
								      
						       
 
								      

DEC Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal

DEC Pakistan Floods Appeal

DEC Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal

DEC Afghanistan Crisis Appeal

DEC Emergency Fund

DEC Coronavirus Appeal

Total charitable activities			 
			 

4,273

601

1,506

276

-

-

6,656

8,187

828

6,482

3

120

-

15,620

12,460

1,429

7,988

279

120

-

22,276

98,485

36,341

70,176

4,818

-

11

209,831

Members of the Rapid Response Team from the local partner of a DEC member charity take part in training in Odesa, Ukraine.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

3a) Total resources expended (current year)

3b) Total resources expended (prior year)

Other
direct costs

£’000

Member
allocations

£’000

Member
allocation

£’000

Allocated 
support costs 

£’000

Other  
direct costs  

£’000

2024 
Total 

£’000

Allocated  
support  

costs  
£’000

2023 
Total 

£’000

2023 
£’000

 
 

Cost of generating voluntary income

Disaster response programmes

Collective initiative projects

Humanitarian Emergency Fund (Scotland) 

Humanitarian Emergency Fund (Wales) 

Lesson learning and accountability

Governance costs

Total resources expended		
		
	

 
 

Cost of generating voluntary income

Disaster response programmes

Collective initiative projects

Humanitarian Emergency Fund (Scotland) 

Humanitarian Emergency Fund (Wales) 

Lesson learning and accountability

Governance costs

Total resources expended			 

4,127

-

559

33

22

879

337

5,957

-

43,653

2,676

-

-

-

-

46,329

-

244,442

3,546

-

-

-

-

247,988

906

-

-

-

-

402

94

1,402

9,718

-

3,066

22

20

311

125

13,262

5,033

43,653

3,235

33

22

1,281

431

53,688

781

-

-

-

-

295

104

1,180

10,499

244,442

6,612

22

20

606

229

262,430

10,499

244,442

6,612

22

20

606

229

262,430

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Support costs are allocated on the following basis:			 

Nature of cost	 Allocation basis	 		

Staff	 Estimate of where staff spend their time	

Premises, utilities and other overheads	 Actual and estimated usage		

Total allocated support costs					   
			 

316

1,086

1,402

329

851

1,180

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

TSE 
£’000

2024 
Total 

£’000

2023 
Total 

£’000

4a) Disaster response programmes (current year)

Appeal funds allocated and committed to participating member charities are as follows:

Action Against Hunger UK	 35	 371	 329	 755	 1,490	 10,147

ActionAid UK	 74	 569	 -	 1,188	 1,831	 10,945

Age International	 80	 371	 329	 755	 1,535	 8,190

British Red Cross	 327	 1,507	 990	 2,754	 5,578	 33,887

CAFOD	 112	 514	 483	 1,108	 2,217	 16,630

CARE International UK	 79	 388	 379	 787	 1,633	 8,811

Christian Aid	 166	 767	 -	 1,609	 2,542	 17,792

Concern Worldwide (UK)	 80	 371	 227	 755	 1,433	 8,142

International Rescue Committee UK	 147	 680	 576	 1,320	 2,723	 14,648

Islamic Relief Worldwide	 95	 -	 421	 884	 1,400	 4,545

Oxfam GB	  -  	 2,058	 1,524	 3,957	 7,539	 37,584

Plan International UK	 -  	 586	 -	 -	 586	 7,373

Save the Children UK	 383	 2,200	 1,524	 4,355	 8,462	 45,735

Tearfund	 171	 -	 738	 1,690	 2,599	 7,979

World Vision UK	 134	 618	 -	 1,333	 2,085	 12,034

Total	 1,883	 11,000	 7,520	 23,250	 43,653	 244,442

PFA 
£’000

UHA 
£’000

AFG 
£’000

3. EXPENDITURE

3. EXPENDITURE (continued)

Allocated support costs: cost allocation includes an element of judgement and the charity has had to consider the cost and benefit of 
detailed calculations and record keeping. This allocation includes support costs where they are attributable and are a best estimate of 
the costs that have been so allocated. The various categories of support costs are described above (see note 1j). 			 
							     
							     

4. DISASTER RESPONSE PROGRAMMES

2. INCOME (continued)

Unrestricted
£’000

 
Restricted 

£’000

2024 
Total 

£’000

2023 
Total 

£’000
 
 

Landlord contribution towards refurbishment of Wenlock Road	

Insurance premium

Total other income			 
		
	

-

 -

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

25

1

26

2c) Other income

During the current financial year there was £nil other income received. During the prior year the DEC received a contribution of £25,000 
towards the refit of Wenlock Road from the landlord as part of the rental agreement. 					   
							     

4a

4c

During the current financial year, expenditure towards Lesson learning and accountability has increased to £1,281k (2023: £606k) as a 
result of the increased level of monitoring and evaluation carried out across multiple appeal responses.			 
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4b) Disaster response programmes (prior year)

Action Against Hunger UK		  49	 161	 6,616	 1,110	 2,211	 10,147

ActionAid UK		  68	 313	 7,084	 -	 3,480	 10,945

Age International		  49	 204	 4,616	 1,110	 2,211	 8,190

British Red Cross		  199	 830	 18,774	 4,709	 9,375	 33,887

CAFOD		  68	 283	 11,402	 1,631	 3,246	 16,630

CARE International UK		  (26)	 176	 4,836	 1,279	 2,546	 8,811

Christian Aid		  106	 422	 12,551	 -	 4,713	 17,792

Concern Worldwide UK		  -	 204	 4,616	 1,111	 2,211	 8,142

International Rescue Committee UK		  -	 374	 8,463	 1,943	 3,868	 14,648

Islamic Relief Worldwide		  60	 242	 -	 1,419	 2,824	 4,545

Oxfam GB		  305	 -	 20,049	 5,600	 11,630	 37,584

Plan International UK		  81	 -	 7,292	 -	 -	 7,373

Save the Children UK		  291	 1,015	 26,000	 5,600	 12,829	 45,735

Tearfund		  103	 436	 -	 2,488	 4,952	 7,979

World Vision UK		  89	 340	 7,701	 -	 3,904	 12,034

Total		  1,442	 5,000	 140,000	 28,000	 70,000	 244,442 

Negative balance represents funds granted to member agency in prior year returned in current year. 
Note: where no funds have been allocated to a member, this is due to this specific member not taking part in this DEC appeal.			 
								      
Key 
TSE: Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal 
PFA: Pakistan Floods Appeal 
UHA: Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal 
	

2023 
£’000

TSE 
£’000

PFA 
£’000

UHA 
£’000

AFG 
£’000

CVA 
£’000

AFG: Afghanistan Crisis Appeal  
CVA: Coronavirus Appeal		
		
		
		
		
		

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 

4c) Collective initiative projects

During the year the DEC committed £3,235,000 (2023: £6,612,000) of appeal funds towards collective initiative projects. Collective  
initiatives support and incentivise innovative, joint programming to increase the impact of DEC funds. This allows the DEC and member  
charities to jointly address quality and accountability gaps, explore humanitarian innovations and accelerate programming in key areas  
such as safeguarding, localisation, cash and accountability to affected populations, which are all membership-wide priorities. 			 
								      
								      
		  						    

5. ANALYSIS OF STAFF COSTS AND THE COST OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
								      
							     

Disaster risk reduction initiative	 Action Against Hunger	 TSE	 1,500	 -

Blue sky localisaton initiative	 Christian Aid	 TSE	 535	 -

Capacity sky localisaton initiative	 Save the Children	 TSE	 332	 -

Localisation: Ukraine led locally pooled fund	 Save the Children	 UHA	 500	 -

Collaborative Cash Delivery (CCD) Network	 Save the Children	 UHA	 (191)	 3,517

Strengthening locally led humanitarian action (scoping project) 	 Christian Aid	 UHA	 -	 29

Safeguarding resource and support hub 	 Social Direct Development	 TSE	 250	 -

H2H Network Turkey-Syria fund activation	 Danish Refugee Council 	 TSE	 242	 -

Ambidextrous strategy review and MEAL framework	 The Research People	 UHA	 55	 -

Ambidextrous strategy review	 The Research People	 TSE	 12		

Safeguarding resource and support hub 	 Social Direct Development	 UHA	 -	 2,300

Beneficiary perception survey	 Ground Truth Solutions	 UHA	 -	 352

Effective communications across Ukraine response	 CDAC Network	 UHA	 -	 299

Translation of Sphere Standard to local languages	 Sphere	 UHA	 -	 115

Total			   3,235	 6,612

2023 
£’000

2024 
£’000

AppealMember charity 
or supplier	
	

In total, the Board agreed in the prior year a budget of £10.0 million for Ukraine Humanitarian response (UHA) and £5.0 million for  
Turkey-Syria Earthquake responses (TSE). The totals presented above are amounts committed to member charities and suppliers for  
collective initiative projects in the year to 31st March 2024. Remaining budgets are planned to be spent over the remaining programmatic 
periods of each appeal. 
								      

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

a) Staff costs were as follows:								      
			    
 
 
Salaries and wages						      1,671	 1,349

National insurance						      265	 151

Contribution to defined contribution pension schemes					    189	 176

Temporary and agency staff						      271	 619

Total						      2,396	 2,295

©
 O

zg
e 

Se
bz

ec
i/F

ai
rp

ic
tu

re
/D

EC

Ubeyde and her daughter Melike* attend a DEC-funded Mother and Baby Space every day in their container camp in Hatay, Turkey. 
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2024 
No.

2023 
No.

c) The average number of employees (head count based on number of staff employed) during the year was as follows:		
			 
			 
			 
Fundraising and communications	 21	 17

Lesson learning and evaluation	 9	 6

Governance	 2	 2

Finance and administration	 6	 5

Total	 38	 30

2024 
FTE No.

2023 
FTE No.

d) The average number of employees (head count based on Full Time Equivalent of staff employed) during the year was as follows:	
								      
								      
								      
Fundraising and communications						      21	 16

Lesson learning and evaluation						      9	 6

Governance						      2	 2

Finance and administration						      6	 5

Total						      38	 29 
 

6. TRUSTEES

No trustees received emoluments in the year (2023: nil). Amounts reimbursed to trustees for travel and other expenditure totalled 
£336 in the year (2023: £nil).  
 
DEC incurred costs for trustees training in the year of £680 (2023: £2,300) and trustees travel overseas for one trustee to visit  
programmes within DEC Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal of £749 (2023: £3,099).						    
								      

The highest paid employee is the Chief Executive, whose emoluments in the year include a salary of £99,666 (2023: £99,521). Salary 
includes Time off in Lieu payment of £nil (2023: £8,800). In addition the CEO received pension contributions including contributions by 
way of employee salary exchange of £35,018 (2023: £34,738) and benefited from a healthcare cash plan for annual cost incurred by 
the employer for £156 (2023: £156) and no other benefits in kind or other remuneration are paid. 			 
							     
The contribution of £35,018 by the Chief Executive  to the defined contribution pension scheme (as noted above) is made up of an  
eight per cent employer pension contribution and eighteen per cent employee pension contribution (by way of salary exchange). 		
							     
	The total amount of remuneration and benefits paid to the key management personnel were £553,609 (2023: £496,790).		
							     
							     

2024 
No.

2023 
No.

	b) Employees whose emoluments were equal to or greater than £60,000 per annum				  
							        

£120,001 - £130,000						      1	 1

£80,001 - £90,000						      4	 1

£70,001 - £80,000						      -	 1

£60,001 - £70,000						      1	 2

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

						       
7. NET INCOME/(EXPENDITURE) FOR THE YEAR IS STATED AFTER CHARGING:					      
 
 
 
Depreciation charge					     150	 134

Operating lease rentals – premises					     174	 174

Auditors’ remuneration  (excluding VAT)						    

Audit					     41	 50

Other services					     18	 11

Leasehold 
improvements 

 
      £’000

 
 

Total 
£’000

Furniture, 
fittings 

and office 
equipment

 £’000

Computer  
equipment           

 
 

£’000

8. TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 
 

Cost

At the start of the year	 175	 354	 46	 60	 635

Additions		  9	 86	 6	 -	 101

Disposals		  -	 -	 -	 -	 -

At the end of the year	 184	 440	 52	 60	 736

Depreciation and amortisation				  

At the start of the year	 84	 174	 40	 52	 350

Disposals		  -	 -	 -	 -	 -

Charge for the year	 30	 109	 3	 8	 150	

At the end of the year	 114	 283	 43	 60	 500

Net book value				  

At the end of the year	 70	 157	 9	 -	 236	

At the start of the year	 91	 180	 6	 8	 285

Website  
development  
and software

 
                     £’000
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2023 
£’000

2024 
£’000

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

2023 
£’000

2024 
£’000

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

10. CASH AND CURRENT ASSET INVESTMENTS

 
Cash at bank and in hand			   81,241	 183,274	

Cash equivalents: Short term deposit (30 days) 			   26,195	 40,623	

Total				    107,436	 223,897

The balance in cash and short term deposits represents funds raised during the Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal, Pakistan Floods Appeal  
and Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal. While these funds have very largely been committed to member charities towards disaster response  
programmes, the disbursement of these fund take place over the period of those programmes. 					   
							     
							     
							     
							     
							     
							     
							     
							     
							     
						      	
							     
							     
	 			    
 

 

11. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR 

Trade creditors			   130	 365

Taxation and social security costs			   51	 40

Due to member charities - Disaster response programmes			   87,047	 187,613

Collective initiatives creditor 			   3,006	 4,263

Other creditors and accruals			   276	 408

Total				    90,510	 192,689

 
 
Collective initiatives were introduced in July 2022. The creditor represents commitments not yet paid and of the creditor balance of  
£3.0 million (2023: £4.2 million), amounts due to member charities of £3.0 million (2023: £2.6 million). For further details please see 
note 4c.						    

2023 
£’000

2024 
£’000

Property

12. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The charity’s total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases is as follows for each of the following periods	
					     		
							     
					   

Less than one year				    174	 174	

One to five years				    734	 727

Over five years				    520	 602	

Total				    1,428	 1,503 
 
The DEC entered into a 10 year lease on 23rd December 2021 for the occupation of Unit B, 19-21 Wenlock Road London N1 7GT. The lease 
contains a tenant break clause at years 3 and 5. 							     
							     
							     

Unrestricted 
funds 
£’000

Restricted 
funds 

£’000

Total 
funds 
£’000

13. ANALYSIS OF NET ASSETS BETWEEN FUNDS				  

a) At 31 March 2024 
						    

 
Tangible fixed assets		  236	 -	 236

Net current assets		  17,764	 21,094	 38,858

Net assets at the end of the year	 	 18,000	 21,094	 39,094

Unrestricted 
funds 
£’000

Restricted 
funds 

£’000

Total 
funds 
£’000

			 

b) At 31 March 2023 
						    

 
Tangible fixed assets		  285	 -	 285

Net current assets		  20,327	 39,264	 59,591

Net assets at the end of the year	 	 20,612	 39,264	 59,876

9. DEBTORS 

Prepayments	 154	 118

Gift Aid receivable 	 20,054	 17,703

Gift Aid receivable - repayment interest	 880	 -

Appeal income receivable	 270	 9,589

Legacy income receivable	 525	 924

Other debtors	 49	 49

		  21,932	 28,383
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Income 
 
 

£’000 

Transfers  
between  

funds 
£’000

At the end  
of the year 

 
£’000

Resources  
expended  

 
£’000

At the start  
of the year 

 
£’000

Disaster  
response  

programmes 
£’000

14. STATEMENT OF FUNDS

a) For the year ended 31 March 2024

Restricted funds:

DEC Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal	 16,912	 10,755	 (23,250)	 -	 (1,824)	 2,541	 5,134	

DEC Pakistan Floods Appeal	 5,463	 1,516	 (7,520)	 -	 (278)	 1,403	 584	

DEC Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal	 6,263	 9,922	 (11,000)	 -	 (362)	 3,517	 8,340	

DEC Afghanistan Crisis Appeal	 1,954	 55	 (1,883)	 -	 (75)	 77	 128	

DEC Emergency Fund	 274	 139	 -	 -	 -	 1,342	 1,755	

DEC Next Appeal	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (71)	 71	 -	

Humanitarian Emergency Fund (Scotland) 	 10	 23	 -	 -	 (33)	 -	 -	

Humanitarian Emergency Fund (Wales) 	 -	 22	 -	 -	 (22)	 -	 -	

Restricted designated funds: 								      

DEC Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal	 5,000	 -	 -	 (2,871)	 -	 -	 2,129

DEC Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal	 3,388	 -	 -	 (364)	 -	 -	 3,024

Total restricted funds	 39,264	 22,432	 (43,653)	 (3,235)	 (2,665)	 8,951	 21,094

Unrestricted funds:								      

Operational reserves	 4,000	 -	 -	 -	 -	 1,000	 5,000

Designated reserves	 1,000	 -	 -	 -	 -	 12,000	 13,000

General reserves	 15,612	 10,474	 -	 -	 (4,135)	 (21,951)	 -

Total unrestricted funds	 20,612	 10,474	 -	 -	 (4,135)	 (8,951)	 18,000

Total funds	 59,876	 32,906	 (43,653)	 (3,235)	 (6,800)	 -	 39,094

Collective 
initiatives 

projects 
£’000

Income 
 
 

£’000 

Transfers  
between  

funds 
£’000

At the end  
of the year 

 
£’000

Resources  
expended  

 
£’000

At the start  
of the year 

 
£’000

Disaster  
response  

programmes 
£’000

14. STATEMENT OF FUNDS

a) For the year ended 31 March 2023

Restricted funds:

DEC Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal	 - 	 91,513	 (70,000)	 -	 (3,095)	 (1,506)	 16,912

DEC Pakistan Floods Appeal	 -	 34,165	 (28,000)	 -	 (1,973)	 1,271	 5,463

DEC Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal	 90,391	 67,929	 (140,000)	 -	 (3,271)	 (8,786)	 6,263

DEC Afghanistan Crisis Appeal	 2,018	 3,810	 (5,000)	 -	 (137)	 1,263	 1,954

DEC Coronavirus Appeal	 1,677	 11	 (1,442)	 -	 (24)	 (222)	 -

DEC Emergency Fund	 -	 274	 -	 -	 -	 -	 274

Humanitarian Emergency Fund (Scotland) 	 9	 23	 -	 -	 (22)	 -	 10

Humanitarian Emergency Fund (Wales) 	 -	 20	 -	 -	 (20)	 -	 -

Restricted designated funds: 								      

DEC Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 5,000	 5,000

DEC Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal	 -	 -	 -	 (6,612)	 -	 10,000	 3,388

Total restricted funds	 94,095	 197,745	 (244,442)	 (6,612)	 (8,542)	 7,020	 39,264

Unrestricted funds:								      

Operational reserves	 2,700	 -	 -	 -	 -	 1,300	 4,000

Designated reserves	 1,000 	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 1,000

General reserves	 8,813	 17,953	 -	 -	 (2,834)	 (8,320)	 15,612

Total unrestricted funds	 12,513	 17,953	 -	 -	 (2,834)	 (7,020)	 20,612

Total funds	 106,608	 215,698	 (244,442)	 (6,612)	 (11,376)	 -	 59,876

Collective 
initiatives 

projects 
£’000
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Children affected by the earthquakes explore friendship, trust, and camaraderie at a workshop run by a DEC member charity in Hatay, Turkey.
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Aid worker Abdul Kareem and Amira, manager of a school rehabilitated by a DEC member charity in Aleppo, Syria, carry out checks on a solar electricity project.

Transfer between funds includes transfers from unrestricted funds to restricted funds of £8.9 million. Including, £3.7 million of unrestricted  
Gift Aid transferred to restricted appeals and £2.6 million relating to prior year investment income previously categorised as unrestricted. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
Restricted income funds All restricted income fund balances at year end are represented by cash balances, debtors and creditors.	
Restricted income funds All restricted income fund balances at year end are represented by cash balances, debtors and creditors.

The DEC Turkey-Syria Appeal was launched on 9th February 2023 and raised £15.0 million in this financial year. Of the £15.0 million 
raised, £8.2 million was from appeal donations, £4.2 million was from Gift Aid, £2.3 million was from investment income and £191k 
was from donations and legacies. Net income of £13.3 million (represented by £10.8 million income & £2.5 million transfers) 
represent total appeal income less DEC core cost recovery and other adjustments. £23.2 million was committed to member agencies 
in the year towards disaster response programmes. Total DEC income raised since launch is £113.9 million.

The DEC Pakistan Floods Appeal was launched on 1st September 2023 and raised £2.1million in this financial year. Of the 
£2.1million raised, £828k was from appeal donations, £601k was from Gift Aid, £641k was from investment income and £46k was 
from donations and legacies. Net income of £2.9 million (represented by £1.5 million income & £1.4 million transfers) represent total 
appeal income, DEC core cost recovery and other adjustments. £7.5 million was committed to member agencies in the year towards 
disaster response programmes. Total DEC income raised since launch is £38.2 million.

The DEC Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal was launched on 3 March 2022 and raised £11.4 million in this financial year. Of the £11.4 
million raised, £6.4 million was from appeal donations, £1.5 million was from Gift Aid, £3.3 million was from investment income and 
£61k was from donations and legacies. Net income of £13.4 million (represented by £9.9 million income & £3.5 million transfers) 
represent total appeal income less DEC core cost recovery and other adjustments. £11.0 million was committed to member agencies 
in the year, from funds raised in the current and last financial year, towards disaster response programmes. Total DEC income raised 
since launch is £307.1 million.

The DEC Afghanistan Crisis Appeal was launched on 15 December 2021 and raised £0.3 million in this financial year. Of the £0.3 
million raised, 276k was from Gift Aid, £52k was from investment income and £3k was from appeal donations. £1.9 million was 
committed to member agencies in the year, from funds raised in the current and prior financial years, towards disaster response 
programmes. Total DEC income raised since launch is £39.9 million.

Since March 2018 the DEC has had a fund that donors can give to outside of our high-profile appeals. Donations to our Emergency 
Fund are allocated to the next DEC appeal launched to respond to a crisis overseas, whether it’s a natural disaster, disease outbreak 
or a crisis fuelled by drought or conflict.

The DEC Emergency Fund helps us respond quickly and effectively when a crisis hits. Having funds in reserve allows us to get more 
money where it is needed as quickly as possible to save, protect and rebuild lives by working with the communities affected. The 
immediate response to any major disaster on this scale is likely to include provision of food, clean water, medicine and shelter - 
and we provide a full account of how money from the Emergency Fund has been spent as part of our overall appeal funds in our 
programme reports. Alongside funds donated directly to the Emergency Fund, any surplus unrestricted funds in year, or donations 
received for closed appeals, are transferred into this fund.

Restricted designated funds Restricted designated funds reflect appeal funds relating to the Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal and 
the Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal which have been designated to collective initiatives. Collective initiatives support and incentivise 
innovative, joint programming to increase the impact of DEC funds. This allows the DEC and members to jointly address quality and 
accountability gaps, explore humanitarian innovations and accelerate programming in key areas such as safeguarding, localisation, 
cash and accountability to affected populations, which are all membership-wide priorities. These funds are either transferred directly 
to third parties, or passed through a member charity.

The Board agreed in the prior year a budget of £10.0 million for Ukraine Humanitarian response & £5.0 million for Turkey-Syria 
Earthquake responses. £2.8 million (2023: £nil) was committed to member charities and suppliers for Turkey-Syria Earthquake 
responses and £0.4 million (2023: £6.6 million) for Ukraine Humanitarian response. 	

General reserve transfers UUnrestricted income includes £7.4 million of Gift aid income. For appeals launched during the prior year, 
50% of the unrestricted Gift Aid income was allocated to appeals and 50% retained to cover DEC costs. This is shown as a transfer 
between funds of £2,143k to the DEC Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal, £601k to the DEC Pakistan Floods Appeal, £756k to the DEC 
Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal, and £276k to the DEC Afghanistan Crisis Appeal.

£13.0 million was transferred from the general reserve to designated reserves (see below), and a further £1.0 million was 
transferred from the general reserve to operational reserves to increase to £5.0 million.

At 31 March 2024, all funds had been designated (as detailed below) or allocated to restricted appeal funds, and therefore the 
balance on general funds is £nil.

Designated funds The trustees have decided to set aside £10.0 million fund the implementation of the DEC’s new 5-year strategy, 
running from 2024-2029. This fund, over the 5-year strategic period, will provide the funding to invest in the DEC to deliver against 
its strategic objectives. An additional £3.0 million has been set aside to mitigate the risk over the strategic period that the new core 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

15. RECONCILIATION OF NET EXPENDITURE TO NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES				  
							     
			 

Net (expenditure) for the reporting period	 (20,782)	 (46,732) 
(as per the Statement of Financial Activities)		

Depreciation charges	 150	 134

Interest from current asset investments	 (8,280)	 (3,041)

Decrease in debtors	 6,451	 50,630

(Decrease)/increase in creditors	 (102,179)	 55,244

Net cash provided by operating activities	 (124,640)	 56,235

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000
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Local aid worker Ramia (left) walks through a camp with Zuleika* (right) as she assesses the needs of older people in Syria affected by the earthquakes.

fundraising activity fails to deliver. The total income included in our five-year financial forecast against this activity is £4.5 million.  
The DEC sees this as high-risk activity given that it has no track record in raising funding for DEC costs. 

Gift Aid tax recoverable on donations to the DEC appeals, although unrestricted, is designated to the relief work respectively in  
those crisis-affected countries for which DEC appeals are launched. Income accrued for Gift Aid for these appeals has already been 
transferred from the designated fund to the restricted fund for the DEC Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal, DEC Pakistan Floods Appeal,  
DEC Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal and DEC Afghanistan Appeal, as there is a presumption that this money will be utilised against  
these appeal responses.								      
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

16. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES (INCORPORATING AN INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT)	

For the year ended 31 March 2023

17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS		

The charity trustees disclosed on page 58 include executives of all member charities. The material transactions are disclosed in note 4. 
The member charities made donations of £1 million (2023: £1 million) in the year to the charity.  In addition, £19k (2023: £1,530k) was 
collected in the year by member charities on behalf of the charity. Being £1k (2023: £180k) Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal, £10k (2023: 
£217k) Pakistan Floods Appeal, £7.5k (2023: £1,132k) Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal and £500 (2023: £483) Afghanistan Crisis Appeal.	
							     
During the year DEC made payment of £1,592k (2023: £2,158k) to Social Development Direct (“SDD”), a consultancy acquired by Plan 
International UK (a DEC member) in 2020 as a social impact investment. All of SDD’s profits are donated to Plan International UK. Rose 
Caldwell, CEO of Plan International UK and trustee of the DEC, is a director of SDD. Note that during the year, £1,592k (2023: £958k)
was paid to SSD for the collective initiatives projects and £nil (2023: £1,200k) was paid to SDD from the allocation to members, with an 
outstanding creditor at year-end of £nil (2023: £1,342k). 						    
							     
The Humanitarian Memorial Appeal (HMA) is an initiative to establish a lasting memorial to humanitarian workers, including those killed or 
injured in the course of helping others. HMA is an unconstituted body run by a steering group comprising 11 individuals, including DEC’s 
CEO, Saleh Saeed. DEC is supporting HMA with the provision of a bank account, and during the financial year the bank balance stood at 
£303k (2023: £308k). Under the terms of the agreement with HMA, DEC has no responsibility for the management and control of HMA. 
The activities of HMA are not reflected in these accounts.						    
							     
18. TAXATION		

The Disasters Emergency Committee (DEC) is a registered charity, and as such is potentially exempt from taxation of its income and gains 
to the extent that they fall within the charity exemptions in the Corporation Taxes Act 2010 or section 256 Taxation of Chargeable Gains  
Act 1992. No tax charge has arisen in the year.						    
							     
							     
							     
							     
							     

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
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6,974

2,531
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1,041
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-

3,041
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17,953

1,999

95

101

33

-

-

-

-

-

606

2,834

15,119

(7,020)

8,099

12,513

20,612

Income from:

Donations and legacies

Charitable activities

DEC Turkey-Syria Earthquake Appeal				  

DEC Pakistan Floods Appeal				  

DEC Ukraine Humanitarian Appeal				  

DEC Afghanistan Crisis Appeal				  

DEC Coronavirus Appeal				  

Humanitarian Emergency Fund (Scotland) 				  

Humanitarian Emergency Fund (Wales) 						    

Investment income

Other income						    

Total income

Expenditure on:

Raising funds

Charitable activities

Turkey-Syria earthquake response programmes				  

Pakistan floods response programmes				  

Ukraine humanitarian response programmes				  

Afghanistan response programmes				  

Coronavirus response programmes				  

Previous DEC programmes				  

Humanitarian Emergency Fund (Scotland) 				  

Humanitarian Emergency Fund (Wales) 				  

Lesson learning and accountability 						    

Total expenditure

Net (expenditure)/income for the year

Transfers between funds

Net movement in fund

Reconciliation of funds

Total funds brought forward

Total funds carried forward

 
 

Note

2023 
Total 

£’000

Restricted 
funds 
£’000

Unrestricted 
funds 
£’000

2

14

14

14

831

91,511

33,810

67,762

3,777

11

23

20

-

-

197,745

8,500

70,000

28,000

146,612

5,000

1,442

-

22

20

-

259,596

(61,851)

7,020

(54,831)

94,095

39,264

 2,757

98,485

36,341

70,176

4,818

11

23

20

3,041

26

215,698

10,499

70,095

28,101

146,645

5,000

1,442

-

22

20

606

262,430

(46,732)

-

(46,732)

106,608

59,876

Village committee president and local farmer, Gulab and his daughter build a new mud house for their family. After the devastating floods in Pakistan, the local partner of a DEC 
member charity worked through village committees to help identify the needs of local communities and strengthen their capacity to achieve their priority goals.
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BOARD OF TRUSTEES DEC SECRETARIAT 

	

	

 

 

ROLES OF THE BOARD  
COMMITTEES
Membership and Accountability Committee  
Responsible for developing accountability policy and 
monitoring member charities and DEC performance 
against it, and overseeing DEC activity to promote learning 
and accountability. The committee is also responsible 
for ensuring our membership criteria are appropriate; 
making decisions on action with non-performing members 
and recruitment of independent trustees. Ensures the 
right policies and procedures including policies and 
management processes for safeguarding and other 
serious incidents are in place for the DEC Secretariat.

Chair: Farmida Bi 
Members 2023/24: British Red Cross, CARE International 
UK, Oxfam GB, Tearfund, World Vision, Islamic Relief 
Worldwide, Plan International UK, Peter Barron 
(Independent Trustee), Julian Douglas (Independent 
Trustee), Melanie Hind (Independent Trustee).

Audit, Finance and Risk Committee  
Responsible for reviewing draft financial statements and 
considering the external auditor’s management letter.  
The committee is also responsible for advising trustees  
on the appointment of external auditors; reviewing 
external audit plans; reviewing the effectiveness of the 
internal control and risk management systems and 
monitoring the implementation of audit recommendations.

Chair: Melanie Hind 
Members 2023/24: Action Against Hunger UK, ActionAid 
UK, CAFOD, International Rescue Committee UK, Save 
the Children UK, Concern Worldwide (UK), Farmida Bi 
(Independent Trustee).

Remuneration Committee  
Responsible for reviewing DEC remuneration policy  
and practice on an annual basis for recommendation  
to the full Board.

Chair: Farmida Bi 
Members 2023/24: Age International, Save the  
Children UK, Melanie Hind (Independent Trustee),  
Sue Inglish (Independent Trustee).

Donations Acceptance Committee 
Responsible for examining and reviewing donations,  
offers of support or fundraising partnerships under  
the DEC’s Donations Acceptance Policy when triggered. 
The committee must also ensure the right policies  
and procedures in relation to the assessment of  
donations acceptance are in place for the DEC Secretariat.

Chair: Sue Inglish  
Members 2023/24: British Red Cross, Oxfam GB, 
Save the Children UK, International Rescue Committee 
UK, Tearfund, Farmida Bi (Independent Trustee), 
Julian Douglas (Independent Trustee), Melanie Hind 
(Independent Trustee).

 

REGISTERED OFFICE 

17-21 Wenlock Road, 
London, N1 7GT

AUDITORS
Crowe U.K. LLP
55 Ludgate Hill
London 
EC4M 7JW

BANKERS
Barclays   
1 Churchill Place  
London E14 5HP

National Westminster Bank PLC 
250 Bishopsgate 
London EC2M 4AA

Cazenove Capital Management 
12 Moorgate  
London EC2R 6DA 

SOLICITORS
Bates Wells & Braithwaite London LLP  
10 Queen Street Place 
London EC4R 1BE

Sidley Austin LLP 
70 St Mary Axe 
London 
EC3A 8BE

MEMBER TRUSTEES 

Jean-Michel Grand 
Action Against Hunger UK –  
Executive Director

John Good  
ActionAid UK –  
Interim Chief Executive 
(resigned 20/08/2023)

Dr Halima Begum 
ActionAid UK - Chief Executive 
(appointed 21/08/2023,  
resigned 15/03/2024) 
Oxfam GB - Chief Executive  
(appointed 08/04/2024)

Hannah Bond 
ActionAid UK -  
Co-Chief Executive 
(appointed 16/03/2024)

Alison Marshall 
Age International –  
Chief Executive Officer 

Mike Adamson  
British Red Cross –  
Chief Executive 
(resigned 19/11/2023)

Béatrice Butsana-Sita 
British Red Cross –  
Chief Executive 
(appointed 20/11/2023)

Christine Allen Dench  
CAFOD – Director

Helen McEachern 
CARE International UK -  
Chief Executive Officer

Patrick Watt 
Christian Aid –  
Chief Executive Officer

Danny Harvey 
Concern Worldwide (UK) –  
Executive Director

Laura Kyrke-Smith 
International Rescue Committee UK –  
Executive Director  
(resigned 26/05/2024)

Khusbu Patel 
International Rescue Committee UK – 
Interim Executive Director   
(appointed on 27/05/24)

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 

Saleh Saeed 	  
Chief Executive

Hannah Richards	  
Director of Communications

Nick Waring 
Director of Finance and Resources

Simon Beresford		  
Director of Fundraising and Marketing	

Madara Hettiarachchi	  
Director of Programmes and  
Accountability
 
On behalf of the Trustees and members, the 
Chair would like to thank the executive team 
and staff for all the excellent work and their 
achievements and dedication shown during 
the year.

IN ADDITION TO KEY MANAGEMENT, 
STAFF WHO SERVED DURING  
THE YEAR 

Sonja Ashbury, Adam Bailey, David Bell, 
Edward Beswick, Richard Bunbury, Priya 
Changela, Hayley Collins, Jerome Combes, 
Vanessa Comparolo, Sophie Dale, Karen 
Denton, Kate Ellis, Libin Farah, Samuel Gard, 
Barney Guiton, Daniel Johny, Sharmeela 
Karaca, Josefina Mandele, Sarah Maynard, 
Hannah McCarthy, Emily McDonnell-Thomas, 
Moto Michikata, Alexa Netty, Huw Owen, 
Nikul Patel, Annette Perez, Edward Rhodes, 
Rebecca Roberts, Lee Saunders, Sian 
Stephen, Pete Teverson, Melissa Varney, 
Adrian Walker, Nathan Williams, Emily Wright, 
Shagufta Yaqub.

VOLUNTEERS AND OTHER SUPPORT
We were also greatly assisted by a number 
of volunteers both during and outside of our 
appeals to whom we are extremely grateful. 
We are grateful for all the support of our 
Rapid Response Network, some of whom 
provide services either free or at reduced 
costs. During the year Sidley Austin LLP 
provided pro-bono legal support which has 
been appreciated and beneficial to the DEC.

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

INDEPENDENT TRUSTEES

Sue Inglish 
Chair of Trustees,  
Independent Trustee 

Farmida Bi, CBE  
Vice Chair,  
Independent Trustee

Melanie Hind  
Independent Trustee,  
Honorary Treasurer 

Peter Barron   
Independent Trustee 

Julian Douglas   
Independent Trustee

Tanya Steele, CBE 
Independent Trustee

 

 

MEMBER TRUSTEES 

Waseem Ahmad  
Islamic Relief Worldwide –  
Chief Executive 

Dr Danny Sriskandarajah 
Oxfam GB -  
Chief Executive  
(resigned 19/12/2023)

Aleema Shivji 
Oxfam GB -  
Interim Chief Executive 
(appointed 20/12/2023,  
resigned 07/04/2024)

Rose Caldwell 
Plan International UK –  
Chief Executive

Gwen Hines	  
Save the Children UK –  
Chief Executive 
(resigned 19/02/2024)

Gemma Sherrington	  
Save the Children UK -  
Interim Chief Executive  
(appointed 20/02/2024)

Nigel Harris	  
Tearfund – Chief Executive 

Mark Sheard	  
World Vision - Chief Executive  
(resigned 09/10/2023)

Folashade Komolafe	  
World Vision - Chief Executive  
(appointed 10/10/2023)
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